Cognition, disease activity and MRI changes in early multiple sclerosis

PhD thesis

Gro Owren Nygaard

2015



Department of Neurology Oslo University Hospital

and

Faculty of Medicine University of Oslo Norway

© Gro Owren Nygaard, 2016

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8333-164-6 ISSN 1501-8962

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard Printed in Norway: 07 Media AS – www.07.no

Contents

Acknowledgements5						
Abbreviations7						
1. List of publications included						
2. Introduction						
2.1 Impact of the disease1						
2.2 Epidemiology1						
2.3 Risk factors for MS1						
2.4 Pathology of MS1						
2.5 MS diagnosis1						
2.6 Disease course2						
2.7 The natural history of MS2						
2.8 Evidence of disease activity in MS2						
2.9 Symptoms in MS2						
2.10 Neuroimaging in MS						
2.11 Treatment						
3. Aims of the study						
4. Summary of results						
4.1 Paper I						
4.2 Paper II						
4.3 Paper III						
4.4 Paper IV4						
5. Methodological considerations4						
5.1 Study design4						

	5.2 Patients and controls	45
	5.3 MS diagnosis	48
	5.4 Clinical assessments	49
	5.5 Neuroimaging	55
	5.6 Assessment of vision, retinal nerve layer and visual evoked potentials	61
	5.7 Eye-tracker measurements	64
	5.8 Statistical considerations	65
	5.9 Ethics	68
6.	General discussion	70
	6.1 Structure of the cerebral cortex in early MS patients	70
	6.2 Association between cortical structure and specific symptoms -indicators of	
	emotional brain reserve in MS patients	71
	6.3 Cognitive function and cognitive reserve in early MS	72
	6.4 Evidence of disease activity in early MS and relation to treatment	73
	6.5 Disability progression, cognition and gray matter atrophy in early MS	74
	6.6 Saccadic initiation time and hand motor speed in early MS	75
	6.7 Pupillary responses to problem solving in MS patients and controls	76
	6.8 Pupillary responses to problem solving in patients with different symptoms	77
	6.9 Pupillary responses to problem solving in patients with a history of ON or	
	brainstem lesions	78
7.	Theoretical and clinical implications of the thesis	79
8.	Future perspectives	83
9.	References	85
1(). Errata	118

Acknowledgements

A series of studies have found that a feeling of gratitude is associated with subjective well-being (Emmons and McCullough 2003; Wood et al. 2008, 2010). Whether these phenomena really are separate entities, whether there is a causal relationship between them and whether this proposed association is valid also for PhD students is outside the scope of this thesis. However; I am grateful for having had the opportunity to work on this project and to all the people who have helped me and kept me company while I worked on it.

First, I would like to thank my main supervisor Hanne Harbo for initiating this project, for hiring me as a PhD student, for sharing her knowledge of science and her scientific network, for her energy and enthusiasm and for her never-ending effort to make me write shorter sentences. I also would like to thank my co-supervisor Elisabeth Gulowsen Celius, who has contributed with well-founded advices, thorough knowledge of the Oslo MS population, of epidemiological research and of treatment of MS patients. My second co-supervisor Kristine Walhovd has given me the opportunity to get to know her hard working cutting-edge research group and has given this thesis a hint of glamour. Professor Bruno Laeng deserves a special thank for his ad hoc contributions in the field of eye-tracking and pupillometry.

I am grateful to all the patients and healthy controls who volunteered for long hours of clinical examinations and MRI assessments, -your encouragement made me believe in this project and your participation made the project possible. A special thanks to Espen for volunteering as a guinea pig while the project was still in the making. I also would like to thank my day-to-day colleagues at the Barrack at Ullevål hospital, OUH. Stine Marit, Angelina, Marte, Marion, Pål, Siri, Iselin, Piotr and more (Lasse, Ingvild, Margit, Anja, Bendik and other emigrants): Thank you for inspiring, supportive or simply relaxed and funny lunch breaks and talks in the corridors. I already miss you and hope I'll get the chance to work and lunch with you again.

During my data collection and data analyses I depended on the contribution from many people: I would like to thank Jorunn at the Department of Radiology and Guri at the out-patient clinic at the Department of Neurology at Rikshospitalet, OUH, for administrative help. Professor Emilia Kerty repeatedly left her out-patient office with her half-written pile of notes so that we could use the facilities. The research assistants Kristin Liltved Grønsberg, May-Britt Gjengstø Utheim, Julia Timofeeva, Hedda Maurud and Siren Tønnessen contributed with long hours of neuropshychological testing, Marte Gustavsen contributed with clinical assessments, Kristian Bernhard Nilsen and Lars Etholm contributed with VEP assessments and research opticians at the Department of Ophthalmology contributed with visual assessments of patients and controls: thank you! The Multiple Sclerosis Research Group at Oslo University Hospital, the Neurogenetic Platform and the Multiple Sclerosis Journal Club provided inspiring arenas for scientific debate. Other friends and colleagues also contributed with support, interest and creative suggestions, most of all Tuva, Toril, Elin, Maria and Karoline. Kari contributed with an unforgettable dinner-and-children-delivery-service. A special thanks to Sigrid Aune de Rodez Benavent, who courageously joined this project in the middle of the data collection, added invaluable ophthalmological assessments and made the eye-tracker and pupillometric studies possible. It has been a pleasure to share the day-to-day ups and downs of this project and other projects of life with you.

Last and most, I would like to thank my family. My parents, siblings and familyin-law have been helpful and sympathetic, as always. I am immensely grateful to my children Sofie, Aurora and Christian for distracting me and constantly reminding me what matters most. And of course I am grateful to my husband and best friend, Christian, for enduring my long monologues on eccentric scientific topics, for patient help with statistics and data processing, for belief in me and for being such a sincerely family-oriented, intellectually curious and thoroughly critical person. You have definitely contributed to my subjective well-being.

Abbreviations

BDI	Beck Depression Inventory			
BVMT	Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised			
CNS	Central nervous system			
CVLT	California Verbal Learning Test			
FSS	Fatigue Severity Scale			
FLAIR	Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery			
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen			
LC	Locus coeruleus			
LCS	Low Cognitive Score			
GM	Gray matter			
OUS	Oslo University Hospital			
MPRAGE	magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo			
MS	Multiple sclerosis			
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging			
NA	Noradrenaline			
NAWM	Normal-appearing white matter			
NP	Neuropsychological			
RRMS	Relapsing-remitting MS			
SDMT	Symbol Digit Modalities Test			

UiO University of Oslo

- WASI Wechsler's Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence
- WM White matter

1. List of publications included

Paper I

<u>Gro O. Nygaard</u>, Kristine B. Walhovd, Piotr Sowa, Joy-Loi Chepkoech, Atle Bjornerud, Paulina Due-Tonnessen, Nils I. Landro, Soheil Damangir, Gabriela Spulber, Andreas B. Storsve, Mona K. Beyer, Anders M. Fjell, Elisabeth G. Celius and Hanne F. Harbo.

Cortical thickness and surface area relate to specific symptoms in early relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal, 2015 Apr;21(4):402–14.

Paper II

<u>Gro O. Nygaard</u>, Elisabeth G. Celius, Sigrid A. de Rodez Benavent, Piotr Sowa, Marte W Gustavsen, Anders M. Fjell, Nils I. Landrø, Kristine B. Walhovd and Hanne F. Harbo.

A longitudinal study of disability, cognition and gray matter atrophy in early multiple sclerosis patients according to evidence of disease activity. PLoS One, 2015 Jan; 10(8):e0135974.

Paper III

<u>Gro O. Nygaard</u>*, Sigrid A. de Rodez Benavent*, Hanne F. Harbo, Bruno Laeng, Piotr Sowa, Soheil Damangir, Kristian Bernhard Nilsen, Lars Etholm, Siren Tønnesen, Emilia Kerty, Liv Drolsum, Nils I. Landrø, Elisabeth G. Celius

Eye and hand motor interactions with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test in early multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders 2015; 4(6):MSARDD1500117

Paper IV

Sigrid A. de Rodez Benavent*, <u>Gro O. Nygaard</u>*, Hanne F. Harbo, Siren Tønnesen, Piotr Sowa, Nils I. Landrø, Marte W. Gustavsen, Lars Etholm, Kristian B. Nilsen, Liv Drolsum, Emilia Kerty, Elisabeth G. Celius, Bruno Laeng

Pupillary responses to problem-solving in early multiple sclerosis patients. Submitted.

*The authors contributed equally

2. Introduction

2.1 Impact of the disease

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurological disease of unknown cause most often affecting young adults with a peak incidence around age 30 (Koch-Henriksen and Sørensen 2010). The disease may lead to a range of different neurological signs and symptoms, including motor, sensory, visual, cognitive, energy-related and depressive symptoms (Compston and Coles 2008). It frequently leads to working inability, especially in the patients with a severe disease course (Kobelt et al. 2006; Pfleger et al. 2010; Glad et al. 2011), to a reduced quality of life both in patients (Miller and Allen 2010) and caregivers (Patti et al. 2007), and to excess mortality (Smestad et al. 2009; Kingwell et al. 2012). Around 380 000 individuals were affected by MS in Europe in 2005, resulting in an estimated total annual cost of €12.5 billion (Sobocki et al. 2007). Estimates from 2013 indicated that 2.3 million people were afflicted with the diagnosis worldwide (Http://www.msif.org/about-us/advocacy/atlas/). Thus the disease has major consequences, both to patients, health care systems and society (Naci et al. 2010).

2.2 Epidemiology

There are large differences in the reported prevalence of MS, both within and between countries. Prevalence estimates from Norway are among the highest in the world, with 203 per 100 000 inhabitants in a recent study (Berg-Hansen et al. 2014a). In contrast prevalence rates in regions of Asia are below five per 100 000 inhabitants (Koch-Henriksen and Sørensen 2010). A latitude gradient of prevalence has been identified, with a high prevalence in Northern Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand, and a lower prevalence in South-America, Africa and Asia (Figure 1) (Http://www.msif.org/about-us/advocacy/atlas/; Koch-Henriksen and Sørensen 2010; Simpson et al. 2011). There's a tendency towards higher prevalence and incidence in all investigated regions with time (Koch-Henriksen and Sørensen 2010).



During the last century an increased female-to-male ratio has been observed, and in Norway the most recent study reports a female-to-male ratio of 2.2:1 (Koch-Henriksen and Sørensen 2010; Berg-Hansen et al. 2014a).

Early epidemiological studies identified a difference in MS prevalence between the coastal and rural regions of Norway (Swank et al. 1952). However, the most complete prevalence study to date neither found any difference in prevalence between different regions of Norway nor a latitude gradient (Berg-Hansen et al. 2014a). Difference in MS risk between different ethnic groups have been reported worldwide (Milo and Kahana 2010), and a lower risk of MS has been identified in the Sami population compared to Caucasians in Norway (Grønlie et al. 2000; Harbo et al. 2007). Migration studies indicate that migration from low-risk to high-risk regions may alter the individual MS risk, but that migration from high-risk to low-risk countries may not give the corresponding risk-reduction (Milo and Kahana 2010). Recent studies from Norway indicate that in ethnic groups with low MS risk in their home country, second generation immigrants develop a higher MS risk (Smestad et al. 2008; Berg-Hansen et al. 2014b). Hence epidemiological studies indicate that both environmental and genetic factors are involved in the risk of acquiring the disease.

Further, ethnicity may influence the manifestation of symptoms at onset or the disease course. Most studied are the differences between African American and White Americans in the USA. These studies show that African Americans often have a higher magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) lesion burden, multiple symptoms at onset and a more severe disease compared to Caucasian Americans (Cree et al. 2004; Kister et al. 2010; Weinstock-Guttman et al. 2010). A recent Norwegian study found that disease severity was higher in the immigrants studied than in the native Norwegian population (Berg-Hansen et al. 2013). Thus ethnicity may not just affect the risk of the disease, but also the disease course.

2.3 Risk factors for MS

The large differences in the reported prevalence of MS indicate that there are regional risk factors for disease susceptibility. Extensive research has shown that both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the risk of acquiring the disease (McKay et al. 2015).

The most important environmental



Figure 2. The most important environmental factors associated with MS disease susceptibility are low levels of vitamin D, infections and smoking. Illustration: MS Research Group OUS/Gro Owren Nygaard factors associated with increased disease susceptibility are low levels of Vitamin D, infections and smoking (Figure 2) (Ascherio 2013). Longitudinal studies have observed associations between serum levels, dietary or supplemental intake of Vitamin D and MS risk later in life (Munger et al. 2004, 2006). A recent review systematically collected material from systematic reviews and meta analyses in the field, and found a summary odds ratio (OR) of 4.5 for anti-Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen sero-positivity, an OR of 2.17 for infectious mononucleosis and an OR of 1.52 for smoking (Belbasis et al. 2015). Body size, gut-microbiota and nutritional salt intake may also be contribute to disease susceptibility or modulate the disease course (Munger et al. 2009; Berer et al. 2011; Kleinewietfeld et al. 2013; Wesnes et al. 2014; Farez et al. 2015). These environmental factors probably all contribute to increased MS risk though modulations of the immune system (Ascherio 2013; Kutzelnigg and Lassmann 2014).

Both migration studies and studies of disease risk in families support a role for susceptibility genes in the development of multiple sclerosis (Milo and Kahana 2010; Westerlind et al. 2014). More than forty years ago genetic studies found associations between certain HLA alleles and MS risk (Jersild et al. 1972). It is now established that



printed with permission.

the HLA allele DRB1:1501 is the major genetic risk factor in MS, increasing the risk of developing MS threefold among Northern Europeans (Compston and Coles 2008). Recent years large international collaborations have led to the identification of 110 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with increased MS risk (Figure 3) (Sawcer et al. 2011; International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium 2013). With these findings around a quarter of the reported heritability in MS can be accounted for (Sawcer et al. 2014). The identified SNPs are mainly located in the previously reported HLA regions or in noncoding regions of the genome and are probably involved in the regulation of the adaptive immune system (Sawcer et al. 2014). Most of these SNPs add minimally to the disease susceptibility, with odds ratios below 1.5. However, an accumulation of risk genes is related to a younger age at onset and may increase risk of disease and presence of cerebrospinal fluid OCBs (De Jager et al. 2009; Harbo et al. 2013). Further, the interaction between genetic and environmental risk factors may lead to accumulated MS risk in some patients, as has been shown for smoking and childhood obesity combined with unfavorable HLA genotypes (Hedström et al. 2011, 2014).

2.4 Pathology of MS

We do not know the cause of multiple sclerosis, but the leading hypotheses concerning the initiation of the disease may be explained as illustrated in Figure 4. The risk of disease increases with certain genetic variants, as well as environmental factors (Sawcer et al. 2011). Disease is triggered by a stimulus either external (the *outside-in hypothesis*) or internal to the CNS (the *inside-out hypothesis*) (Hemmer et al. 2015).



This event initiates a cascade of pathological events, involving both the innate and adaptive immune system.

2.4.1 Inflammation, demyelination and reparative mechanisms

Pathology studies of MS patients date back to the 19th century, with macroscopic studies and drawings of lesions of the brainstem and spinal cord accompanied by atrophy (figure 5) (Carswell 1838; Cruvhelhier 1842) and microscopic



Figure 5. Macroscopic drawing of MS lesions in brainstem and medulla. Carswell, 1838. Printed with permission from Glasgow University.

description of CNS veins with surrounding lesions (Rindfleisch 1863). Disruption of the blood-brain barrier, focal demyelinating lesions with axonal damage and reactive glial scar formation in gray and white matter all contribute to axonal, synaptic and neuronal loss (Figure 6) (Kutzelnigg and Lassmann 2005, 2014; Dutta and Trapp 2007; Bø 2009). This damage leads to the irreversible neurological disability associated with the disease (Tallantyre et al. 2010; Popescu et al. 2013).



Figure 6. Demyelination and axonal damage. Confocal microscopy of axons with active demyelination, transection and axonal swelling. Printed with permission from Trapp BD et al. 1998, Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.



Focal inflammatory demyelinating lesions in the WM dominate the pathology in acute and relapsing MS, while cortical lesions, atrophy and damage to NAWM dominate in the progressing disease (Figure 7) (Kutzelnigg and Lassmann 2014; Mahad et al. 2015).

Variable degrees of remyelination have been identified in MS plaques. While almost all plaques are remyelinated in some patients with very long disease duration, remyelination can hardly be identified in others (Barkhof et al. 2003; Patrikios et al. 2006; Goldschmidt et al. 2009). Remyelination seems to be a continuous reparative process, contributing to the formation of new, thin myelin sheaths surrounding axons both in the relapsing and the progressive phase of the disease (Franklin and Ffrench-Constant 2008; Mahad et al. 2015). This remyelination may protect the axons against chronic damage by reducing energy demand for signal conduction and the reestablishment of a protective extracellular environment (Trapp and Stys 2009).

2.4.2 White matter damage in MS

White matter lesions are typically round or oval, and are mainly located periventricularly, juxtacortically, infratentorially and in the spinal cord (Figure 8) (Brownell and Hughes 1962; Polman et al. 2011). Inflammatory cells from both the adaptive and innate immune system contribute to demyelination, damage to the myelin-forming oligodendrocytes, axonal damage and neuronal death in active lesions (Trapp et al. 1998). Combined MRI and pathology studies have shown a high correspondence between T2 and FLAIR detectable lesions and these sites of



inflammation, demyelination and remyelination (Filippi et al. 2012). A higher T2 lesion load, i.e. a larger volume of white matter lesions visible on T2 weighed MRI images, increases the risk of conversion from CIS to MS (Kuhle et al. 2015). Radiological progression is also associated with a higher future relapse rate (Sormani et al. 2013). Furthermore, new or enlarging WM lesions, together with hypointense T1 lesions and brain atrophy, predict future disability progression (Bermel et al. 2013; Giorgio et al. 2013; Popescu et

al. 2013).

While new active WM lesions mainly appear in patients with acute and relapsing multiple sclerosis, diffuse injury of the normal-appearing white matter (NAWM) is more prominent in primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (Kutzelnigg et al. 2005). A pathology study of MS patients, mainly in the progressive stage of the disease, found that 72 % of NAWM investigated was histologically abnormal (Allen and McKeown 1979). The abnormalities included gliosis, demyelination, immune cell infiltration and perivascular deposits (Allen and McKeown 1979).

2.4.3 Gray matter damage in MS

Damage to gray matter (GM) in MS patients has been described for more than a century (Bø 2009). However, the impact of GM lesions and atrophy on disability has become evident through extensive research the last decades (Geurts et al. 2012).

Cortical GM lesions are found in all disease stages, but are most prominent in patients with a long disease course (Figure 9) (Giorgio et al. 2011; Filippi et al. 2013b), Most cortical lesions are intracortical or located at the border between GM and WM (Bø et al. 2003). However, in a subset of patients subpial cortical lesions dominate, indicating meningeal involvement in the disease process (Bø et al. 2003; Calabrese et al.



2015). A more rapidly progressing disease course is associated with more meningeal inflammation and GM damage (Magliozzi et al. 2010; Howell et al. 2011; Calabrese et al. 2013).

In addition to focal GM lesions, widespread cortical and subcortical GM atrophy is identified in MS patients (De Stefano et al. 2003; Sailer et al. 2003; Fisher et al. 2008). Subcortical atrophy is found even in patients with clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) indicative of MS (Henry et al. 2008). The first studies of RRMS patients with a short disease duration (less than three and five years respectively) showed conflicting results concerning cortical thinning in patients compared to controls, while studies of total gray matter fraction found smaller values in the patient group (Chard et al. 2002; De Stefano et al. 2003; Sailer et al. 2003). In patients with SPMS, GM atrophy is generalized and includes both cortical, subcortical, cerebellar and brainstem atrophy (Ceccarelli et al. 2008). A longitudinal study has found that the GM atrophy rate increases with time, from 3.4 times the normal rate in CIS patients to 14 times the normal rate in SPMS (Fisher et al. 2008). Thus both cerebral location and GM atrophy rate change with disease duration.

GM atrophy is associated with cognitive impairment (Calabrese et al. 2010b; Riccitelli et al. 2011) and high atrophy rates early in the disease course may be the best predictor available for a worse long-term disability (Filippi et al. 2013a; Popescu et al. 2013).

Studies of the association between GM atrophy and WM lesions have shown conflicting results (Bö et al. 2007; Bendfeldt et al. 2010). Recent studies indicate that diffuse damage to white matter tracts may be associated with damage to the corresponding cortical and subcortical GM (Gorgoraptis et al. 2010; Kolasinski et al. 2012; Cappellani et al. 2014; Bergsland et al. 2015). Furthermore, MR spectroscopy studies have found that damage to NAWM predicts future brain atrophy and neurological disability evolution (Llufriu et al. 2014). However, in the progressive phase of the disease, GM atrophy escalates, while increase in WM lesion load is similar to rates in RRMS (Fisher et al. 2008). Thus GM atrophy may evolve in parallel or be secondary to WM damage in the early disease stages, while in the progressive stage of the disease other mechanisms dominate.

The main pathological substrate of neocortical GM atrophy is neuronal, axonal and glial degeneration and synaptic loss (Wegner et al. 2008; Popescu et al. 2015). Axonal damage has been identified as the factor most closely associated with irreversible disability in MS (Tallantyre et al. 2010). Thus GM atrophy is an indicator of irreversible brain damage and early GM atrophy may serve as a marker of long-term disability outcomes in MS patients.

2.5 MS diagnosis

There are anecdotes and patient histories of disease courses that fit with MS dating back to the 12th century (Holmøy 2006). Jean-Martin Charcot (1825-1893)

defined the disease clinically and pathologically, after following the disease progression of his housemaid until her death. He described "Sqlerose en Plaque" with a triad of clinical symptoms (nystagmus, scanning speech and intentional tremor), and he also noted cognitive impairments in some of the patients (Charcot 1868; Clanet 2008).

The disease was later systematically characterized by Schumacher in 1965 and the diagnostic criteria were revised in a Workshop on the Diagnosis of Multiple Sclerosis in 1983 (Poser and Paty 1983). Expanding knowledge in the field and a need for clarifying criteria in research and clinical care has led to several revisions of the disease criteria. There is international consensus for the use of the current diagnostic MS criteria, the 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria (McDonald et al. 2001; Polman et al. 2005, 2011). With these criteria RRMS can be diagnosed after a single relapse if there is clinical or imaging evidence of dissemination of the disease in space and time (Table 1). Oligoclonal bands in the cerebrospinal fluid, not identified in serum, is found in 80-95 % of MS cases, but are not part of the criteria for RRMS (Polman et al. 2011; Goris et al. 2015). The diagnosis of progressive MS is more complex and requires disease progression over time (Table 1) (Polman et al. 2011).

MRI was mentioned as a possible paraclinical tool guiding the diagnosis of MS in the Poser criteria shortly after the introduction of MRI in clinical practice (Poser and Paty 1983). In the 2001 McDonald Criteria MRI assessment was established as a diagnostic tool, and MRI assessments have increasing weight in the subsequent revisions of the criteria in 2005 and 2010 (McDonald et al. 2001; Polman et al. 2005, 2011). However, radiological evidence alone is not sufficient for the diagnosis of MS. The identification of radiological lesions indicative of MS without clinical symptoms or signs, Radiological Isolated Syndome (RIS), will only lead to an MS diagnosis within the next two years in around a third of the cases, even after extensive clinical and paraclinical examinations (Lebrun et al. 2014). In contrast, a Danish post-mortem study published in 1988, before the everyday use of MRI, verified the clinical MS diagnosis made by neurologists in 94 % of the patients investigated (Engell 1988). Thus the

Clinical Presentation	Additional Data Needed for MS Diagnosis
≥2 attacks ^a ; objective clinical evidence of ≥2 lesions or objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion with reasonable historical evidence of a prior attack ^b	None ^c
≥2 attacks ^a ; objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion	Dissemination in space, demonstrated by: ≥ 1 T2 lesion in at least 2 of 4 MS-typical regions of the CNS (periventricular, juxtacortical, infratentorial, or spinal cord) ⁴ ; or Await a further clinical attack ^a implicating a different CNS site
1 attack*; objective clinical evidence of ≥2 lesions	Dissemination in time, demonstrated by: Simultaneous presence of asymptomatic gadolinium-enhancing and nonenhancing lesions at any time; or A new T2 and/or gadolinium-enhancing lesion(s) on follow-up MRI, irrespective of its timing with reference to a baseline scan; or Await a second clinical attack [*]
1 attack*; objective clinical evidence of 1 lesion (clinically isolated syndrome)	Dissemination in space and time, demonstrated by: For DIS: ≥1 T2 lesion in at least 2 of 4 MS-typical regions of the CNS (periventricular, juxtacortical, infratentorial, or spinal cord) ^d ; or Await a second clinical attack ^a implicating a different CNS site; and For DIT: Simultaneous presence of asymptomatic gadolinium-enhancing and nonenhancing lesions at any time; or A new T2 and/or gadolinium-enhancing lesion(s) on follow-up MRI, irrespective of its timing with reference to a baseline scan; or Await a second clinical attack ^a
Insidious neurological progression suggestive of MS (PPMS)	 year of disease progression (retrospectively or prospectively determined) plus 2 of 3 of the following criteria^d: Evidence for DIS in the brain based on ≥1 T2 lesions in the MS-characteristic (periventricular, juxtacortical, or infratentorial) region Evidence for DIS in the spinal cord based on ≥2 T2 lesions in the cord Positive CSF (isoelectric focusing evidence of oligoclonal bands and/or elevated IgG index)
f the Criteria are fulfilled and there is no be he Criteria are not completely met, the diag xplains the clinical presentation, then the di An attack (relapse; exacerbation) is defined a demyelinating event in the CNS, current or l hould be documented by contemporaneous haracteristic for MS, but for which no object demyelinating event. Reports of paroxysmal s ing over not less than 24 hours. Before a de n neurological examination, visual evoked p with demyelination in the area of the CNS is Clinical diagnosis based on objective clinical ticlaid diagnosis based on objective neuro stics for a prior inflammatory demyelinating No additional tests are required. However, in Criteria. If imaging or other tests (for instanc making a diagnosis of MS, and alternative di gadolinium-enhancing lesions are not requi or spinal cord syndromes. MS = multiple sclerosis; CNS = central nerve	tter explanation for the clinical presentation, the diagnosis is "MS"; if suspicious, bu nosis is "possible MS"; if another diagnosis arises during the evaluation that better agnosis is "not MS." is patient-reported or objectively observed events typical of an acute inflammatory historical, with duration of at least 24 hours, in the absence of fever or infection. It neurological examination, but some historical events with symptoms and evolution tive neurological findings are documented, can provide reasonable evidence of a pri symptoms (historical or current) should, however, consist of multiple episodes occur finite diagnosis of MS can be made, at least 1 attack must be corroborated by findir otential response in patients reporting prior visual disturbance, or MRI consistent mplicated in the historical report of neurological symptoms. I findings for 2 attacks is most secure. Reasonable historical evidence for 1 past atta ological findings, can include historical events with symptoms and evolution charact event; at least 1 attack, however, must be supported by objective findings. t is desirable that any diagnosis of MS be made with access to imaging based on the ce, CSF) are undertaken and are negative, extreme caution needs to be taken before agnoses must be considered. There must be no better explanation for the clinical pr sent to support a diagnosis of MS. red; symptomatic lesions are excluded from consideration in subjects with brainstem ous system; MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; DIS = dissemination in space; DIT

Neurology.

diagnosis of MS, though guided by MRI and other paraclinical examinations, should still be based on clinical assessment.

2.6 Disease course

The Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of MS and the MS Phenotype Group have published recommendations for definition of the clinical course of MS (Lublin et al. 1996, 2014). The patients investigated in this thesis were evaluated according to the suggestions published in 1996 (Lublin et al. 1996). According to those criteria the disease course of MS patients could be divided into four subtypes. In relapsingremitting (RRMS) the patients experienced episodes of relapses followed by total or partly recovery. In Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis (PPMS) the disease was progressive with no relapses. Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis denoted the



conversion from RRMS to PPMS, and Progressive-Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis (PSMS) denoted a phenotype with a dominance of progressive disease with occational relapses (Figure 10) (Lublin et al. 1996). The latest update of clinical course by the Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of MS and the MS Phenotype Group was published after the end of the data collection in this thesis (Lublin et al. 1996, 2014). In those guidelines CIS was included as a part of the MS diagnosis spectrum, and the other diagnoses were limited to RRMS and PMS (including both PPMS and SPMS). Annual evaluations of disease activity (defined as MRI evidence of new or expanding lesions or clinical relapses) and clinical worsening or disability progression were recommended. They suggested the term "confirmed worsening" for clinical symptoms remaining after relapses and "disability progression" for the progressive disability accumulation in PMS (Figure 10) (Lublin et al. 2014).

2.7 The natural history of MS

Around 85 % of MS patients present with a clinically isolated episode of neurological disability (Confavreux and Vukusic 2006). The presence of OCB, multiple T2 WML and a younger age increase the probability of conversion to clinically definite MS within the next five years (Kuhle et al. 2015). Fifteen to twenty percent of the patients present with a primary progressive disease and experience gradual increase in disability with no definite relapses (Myhr et al. 2001; Confavreux and Vukusic 2006). Both natural history studies and pathological studies suggest that primary progressive MS succeeds a period of "silent" relapses, and represents the same disease as secondary progressive MS (Figure 11) (Confavreux and Vukusic 2006; Kutzelnigg and Lassmann 2014; Dendrou et al. 2015; Mahad et al. 2015).

Most RRMS patients convert to SPMS after 5-15 years (Scalfari et al. 2014). A gradual or stepwise increase in disability is the rule, but disability regression has been reported in a subset of patients (Tremlett et al. 2012). A higher age at onset, male sex, involvement of multiple systems, high relapse rate and a rapid increase in EDSS the first five years are prognostic markers for a worse long-term outcome, as measured by



conversion to SP MS and higher EDSS scores (Degenhardt et al. 2009; Scalfari et al. 2010, 2014). However, patients with low EDSS after a long disease duration ("benign MS") may be bothered with symptoms less accounted for on the EDSS scale, like cognitive impairment, depression and fatigue, and may also be severely affected by the disease (Amato et al. 2006; Smestad et al. 2010; Glad et al. 2011).

2.8 Evidence of disease activity in MS

In order to predict clinical course, decide on treatment and to inform patients, it is important to have reliable and user-friendly tools describing disease activity in MS patients. The most readily available measures are information about relapses, disability and MRI changes. *Relapses* can be defined as any new neurological symptoms, not associated with fever or infection, lasting for at least 24 hours and accompanied by new neurological signs (Havrdova et al. 2009). Relapses are most frequent early in the disease course (Compston and Coles 2008). A high relapse rate during the first years after diagnosis is associated with a shorter time to reach EDSS 6, faster conversion to progressive MS and higher disability levels (Weinshenker et al. 1989; Scalfari et al. 2010, 2014). Further, incomplete remission from relapses may lead to long-term disability accumulation (Lublin et al. 2003). Also, relapses on interferon treatment increase the risk of sustained disability progression (Bosca et al. 2008).

The most common measure of disability in MS is the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) (Kurtzke 1983). *Disability progression* can be defined as an increase in EDSS≥1 compared to baseline in the absence of a relapse the last six weeks before examination (Giovannoni et al. 2011). Disability progression early in the disease course is correlated with long-term disability (Degenhardt et al. 2009). Indeed, early disability progression was reported to be the strongest predictor of long term disability in patients treated with interferons (Río et al. 2006).

MRI measures of MS has had major influences on MS diagnostic criteria, treatment and research (Rovira et al. 2015). In clinical practice *radiological progression* can be defined as at least one new or enlarging T2 or Fluid Attenuated Inverse Recovery (FLAIR) white matter lesion (WML) (with or without gadolinium enhancement on T1) compared to MRI at baseline (Havrdova et al. 2009). As mentioned previously, higher T2 lesion load increases the risk of conversion from CIS to MS and radiological progression is associated with a higher future relapse rate (Sormani et al. 2013; Kuhle et al. 2015). Furthermore radiological progression, together with hypointense T1 lesions and brain atrophy, predict future disability progression (Bermel et al. 2013; Giorgio et al. 2013; Popescu et al. 2013).

No Evidence of Disease Activity (NEDA), i.e. the absence of relapses, disability progression or radiological progression, was first introduced as an outcome measure in

post-hoc studies of disease modifying treatment (DMT)s in clinical trials (Havrdova et al. 2009; Giovannoni et al. 2011; Lublin et al. 2013). This outcome measure has separated patients treated with DMTs from those on placebo (Havrdova et al. 2009; Giovannoni et al. 2011; Lublin et al. 2013). Furthermore, NEDA has been used as outcome measure in patients with active MS treated with autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) (Nash et al. 2015). A recent population-based cohort study found that almost half of the patients fulfilled the NEDA criteria after one year, and that NEDA status at two years predicted stability of disability the following five years better than any of the individual measures alone (Rotstein et al. 2014).

2.9 Symptoms in MS

2.9.1 Neurological symptoms

A range of different symptoms are associated with MS (Figure 12). The presenting symptoms often include motor, sensory, visual or cerebellar symptoms (Compston and Coles 2008). Later in the disease course the patients often have multiple neurological symptoms. Specific signs typical of MS include l'Hermitte's sign, i.e. sensory symptoms



with neck flexion, and Uthoffs phenomenon, i.e. transient worsening of symptoms with increased body temperature (Compston and Coles 2008). Pyramidal, sensory, and mental disabilities (including both cognitive impairment, fatigue and depression) all have a large impact on MS patients' quality of life (Nortvedt et al. 1999).

Autonomic symptoms in MS patients include disturbed control of the bladder and bowel, disturbed cardiovascular function, sleep disturbancies, sexual problems and dysregulation of sweat organs (Haensch and Jörg 2006). Studies of autonomic dysregulation in MS patients have been conflicting concerning the association with fatigue (Egg et al. 2002; Niepel et al. 2013). However, recent studies indicate that autonomic nervous system (ANS) dysfunction may contribute to MS-related fatigue (Cortez et al. 2015).

2.9.2 Cognitive symptoms

Cognitive symptoms in MS were described already in the 19th century (Clanet 2008). However, the first population-based study of cognitive impairments in MS patients was not performed before the early 1990s (Rao et al. 1991). Rao and colleagues identified cognitive impairments in 43 % of the MS patients investigated (Rao et al. 1991). Amato and colleagues examined MS patients with a short disease duration (less than two years), and they found that these patients performed worse than healthy controls, most notably in verbal memory and abstract reasoning (Amato et al. 1995). More recent studies have found cognitive impairment (CI) in patients at the very early disease stages: in RIS patients (Lebrun et al. 2010) and in CIS patients (Achiron and Barak 2003; Feuillet et al. 2007).

Cognitive dysfunction in MS patients increases with disease duration (Amato and Ponziani 2001; Van Schependom et al. 2014b). A population-based study in Stockholm, Sweden, found that 50 % of the MS patients investigated had cognitive problems (Einarsson et al. 2006). Similarly, a study in Oslo, Norway, identified CI in 50 % of the MS patient with a long disease duration (>20 years) (Smestad et al. 2010). Several cognitive domains may be affected in MS patients (Figure 13). Processing speed and memory are the most commonly impaired functions, followed by executive functions and visuospatial perception (Benedict et al. 2006). Processing speed may be the primary domain affected in most patients (Demaree et al. 1999; DeLuca et al. 2004; Covey and Zivadinov 2011; Van Schependom et al. 2014b).



Impairments in this cognitive domain may contribute to a poorer test performance in other domains, like verbal memory (Lengenfelder et al. 2006; Forn et al. 2008; Urbanek et al. 2010) and executive functions (Denney and Lynch 2009; Roth et al. 2015).

Predictors for cognitive impairments include young age at MS onset and a severe disease course. Some studies have found that CI is associated with a higher EDSS (Amato and Ponziani 2001),

while others have not confirmed such an association (Smestad et al. 2010). Several MRI studies have found that a higher WM lesion load, damage to NAWM, GM atrophy and GM lesions are all associated with more cognitive symptoms (Goodin et al. 2012; Rocca et al. 2015).Cognitive dysfunction at diagnosis predicts disability progression and conversion to SP MS ten years later (Moccia et al. 2015). Furthermore, cognitive dysfunction itself has severe consequences: it is associated with lower working abilities and with reduced quality of life (Nortvedt et al. 1999; Glad et al. 2011).

Studies of cognitive reserve in MS have shown that high premorbid intelligence levels moderate or delay the negative effects of structural brain damage on cognition (Benedict et al. 2010). Higher education and more premorbid intellectual leisure activities are associated with a lower risk of cognitive dysfunction (Sumowski et al. 2010; Martins Da Silva et al. 2015). Also a larger maximal lifetime brain growth measured by estimates of intracranial volume protects against CI, a phenomenon termed "brain reserve" (Sumowski et al. 2013). Results are conflicting as to whether these protective effects are sustained when the disease progresses (Amato et al. 2013; Sumowski et al. 2014).

Structural brain damage, most notably damage to deep gray matter, but also cortical gray matter atrophy, cortical lesions, increased WMLL and damage to NAWM increase the risk of CI in MS patients (Rao et al. 1989; Dineen et al. 2009; Calabrese et al. 2012). Results from functional neuroimaging have been more conflicting. Functional MRI (fMRI) studies have indicated that patients with MS or clinically isolated syndromes (CIS) show a different cerebral resting-state activation as well as taskrelated cerebral activation patterns compared to healthy controls (Staffen et al. 2002; Audoin et al. 2003; Penner et al. 2003; Forn et al. 2006; Roosendaal et al. 2010; Rocca et al. 2014b). MS patients with both normal cognitive function (Staffen et al. 2002) and with mild cognitive impairment (CI) (Penner et al. 2003) may recruit more cortical areas during cognitive tasks than controls. Such an increased activation could be a sign of functional recruitment or plasticity early in the disease course compensating and delaying cognitive difficulties. This "functional reorganization" theory fits with results of fMRI studies of motor tasks in MS patients, where patients with motor impairments show more extensive activations in cortical areas than participants with normal cognitive scores (Rocca et al. 2005). However, cerebral activation may also be normal in patients with mild CI and altered activation may be evident only in more severely impaired patients (Rocca et al. 2014b). The altered cerebral recruitment among MS patients may thus alternatively be a sign of dysfunctional reorganization caused by the disease (either directly because of structural changes, i.e. lesions and atrophy or by an altered activation pattern caused by cerebral stress or inflammation), leading to less appropriate brain activation, and contributing to cognitive difficulties. Recently a hypothesis of cerebral network collapse as a cause for developing cognitive impairment

29

in MS has been raised (Schoonheim et al. 2015). They suggest that network collapse is induced after a critical threshold dependent on both structural and functional brain changes (Schoonheim et al. 2015).

2.9.3 Fatigue

Fatigue is a broad term used to describe a feeling of excessive tiredness or exhaustion (Krupp 2010). A distinction between *fatigue* as the subjective sensation of tiredness and *performance fatigability* as the objective deterioration in performance with time has been suggested to define a unified taxonomy for neurological disorders (Kluger et al. 2013).

Fatigue is a common and often disabling symptom in MS patients (Krupp 2010). It afflicts more than 80 % of MS patients and 40 % report fatigue as their most disabling symptom (Bakshi 2003; Minden et al. 2006). A longitudinal study found that patient-reported severity of fatigue symptoms were not static, rather they varied considerably throughout the observation period in most patients (Johansson et al. 2008). Fatigue is associated with depressive symptoms, a worse quality of life, not living with a partner and not working (Bakshi et al. 2000b; Johansson et al. 2008; Smedal et al. 2011).

The first MRI studies of fatigue in MS reported conflicting results concerning associations between whole brain atrophy, lesion load and fatigue (Codella et al. 2002; Tedeschi et al. 2007). However, further studies have found that localized WM lesion load, GM atrophy of frontotemporal regions, damage to NAWM in frontotemporal regions, and damage to corpus callosum, thalamus and basal ganglia, respectively, are associated with fatigue in these patients (Bakshi et al. 2000b; Calabrese et al. 2010a; Pellicano et al. 2010; Gobbi et al. 2014; Rocca et al. 2014a; Yaldizli et al. 2014). This evidence from imaging studies has led to the suggestion of a thalamo-striato-cortical explanatory model of fatigue in MS (Leocani et al. 2008). This model suggests that circuits involving thalamus, basal ganglia, and frontoparietal cortex could be disrupted either structurally by MS lesions or functionally by inflammation and lead to symptoms of fatigue (Leocani et al. 2008).

30

2.9.4 Depressive symptoms

The life-time risk of major depression is 25-50 % in MS patients, which is two to five times the risk in the general population (Feinstein et al. 2014). In cross-sectional population-based studies 30-40% of MS patients report depressive symptoms (Chwastiak et al. 2002; Beiske et al. 2008). Depression is also more common in MS patients than in patients with other chronic diseases (Patten et al. 2003).

A recent diagnosis of MS, major changes in functioning, or limited social support increase the risk of depression (Chwastiak et al. 2002). MRI studies have found that WM lesion burden, ventricular enlargement and frontotemporal GM atrophy are associated with depressive symptoms in MS (Pujol et al. 1997; Bakshi et al. 2000a; Feinstein et al. 2004; Gobbi et al. 2014). Together these studies indicate that both social factors and structural damage to fronto-parietal brain regions contribute to depression in these patients.

2.9.5 Other psychiatric symptoms

Other psychiatric symptoms, particularly anxiety, are also common in MS (Beiske et al. 2008). The incidence of psychiatric comorbidity in this patient group remains understudied and is probably also undertreated (Beiske et al. 2008; Marrie et al. 2015).

2.9.6 Vision and vison-related symptoms

Optic neuritis (ON) is common in patients with MS. It is the first symptom of the disease in 25 % of MS patients and occurs during the disease in about 70 %, usually in the relapsing-remitting phase (Toosy et al. 2014b). High contrast visual acuity is often affected in acute ON and recovers only partly in most patients (Balcer et al. 2014). Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer (RNFL), assessed by Optic Coherence Tomography (OCT) is thinner in MS patients than controls, even early in the disease course of MS. Furthermore, RNFL thinning is associated with MRI measures of CNS GM atrophy (Balcer et al. 2014). Visual deficits, structural loss of retinal axonal and neuronal integrity and delayed VEP can frequently be found in the patients even without a

history of ON (Balcer et al. 2014). Eye-movement disorders are less studied, but a range of disorders, including nystagmus, disruption of saccades, diplopia and internuclear ophthalmoplegia frequently afflict the patients (Frohman et al. 2005). These decrements in vision and eye-movements contribute to disability and to a worse visionrelated quality of life (Schinzel et al. 2014).

2.10 Neuroimaging in MS

Magnetic resonance imaging is a relatively new imaging modality. The high sensitivity to a broad range of tissues, good contrast, relative safety and non-invasive nature all contribute to the popularity and usefulness of the technique. Advances in physics throughout the last century led to the development of the first MRI platform for clinical examinations of humans in 1980. The development in the field of MRI has led to several Nobel prizes in medicine and physics and to implementations of imaging both in clinical medicine and in research (Haacke et al. 1999).

In the field of MS, the introduction of MRI has been particularly important. Pathological studies have long identified white matter lesions and brain atrophy in MS brains (Kutzelnigg and Lassmann 2014). However, prior to the MRI technology no good imaging modalities were available to detect these changes in the patients *in vivo*. In 1981 Young and colleagues scanned ten MS patients by means of CT and MRI. They identified a total of 19 cerebral lesions on the CT scans, all in the periventricular regions, and 112 further lesions on the MRI scans (Young et al. 1981). Studies comparing MRI and pathological findings confirmed that T2 weighed MRI captured histologically confirmed demyelinated WM lesions (Stewart et al. 1984).

The first studies of clinical and MRI findings in MS patients reported an incomplete association between the two, termed the "clinico-radiological paradox" (Barkhof 2002). This gap probably had several explanations. The use of EDSS as disability outcome led to imprecise clinical assessments (Cohen et al. 2012). Further, the early MRI studies did not image damage to gray matter and normal-appearing

white matter (Filippi and Rocca 2013). Also, premorbid brain resources, both cognitive reserve and brain reserve, that could modulate the association between brain pathology and clinical outcomes were not accounted for (Sumowski et al. 2014). Recent years this gap has diminished because of advances in the field of clinical assessments, MRI and cognitive reserve (Cohen et al. 2012; Filippi et al. 2014; Sumowski et al. 2014).

Today MRI scans are parts of the routine examinations both at diagnosis and clinical follow-up of MS patients in Norway and internationally (Myhr et al. 2011; Rovira et al. 2015). Furthermore, MRI changes are used as primary or secondary outcome in clinical trials, and new MRI sequences are considered for future assessments in MS patients (Filippi et al. 2014).

2.11 Treatment

To date there is no cure for MS. The treatment is limited to pharmacological treatment of relapses, disease course and symptoms, as well as non-medical rehabilitation strategies.

The intravenous or oral treatment of relapses with methylprednisolone significantly reduces the severity and longevity of relapses in CIS, ON and MS patients. However, no evidence of long term effect of such treatment has been found (Beck et al. 1992; Miller et al. 2000; Toosy et al. 2014b). Thus this treatment is indicated if symptoms are bothersome to the patients or interfere with daily function (Myhr et al. 2011).

Disease modifying treatments (DMTs) for RRMS have been available since the 1990s (Paty et al. 1993; The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group 1993). Most disease-modifying treatments (DMTs) reduce the annual relapse rate in RRMS and the number of new MRI lesions, but do not stop the disease progression completely (Piehl 2014; Galea et al. 2015).

33



Subcutaneous Interferonß (IFNß) 1b injections were the first DMTs with clinical and MRI effect on disease course, with a 30 % reduction in relapses and new T2 enhancing lesions (The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group 1993). Subcutaneous glatiramer acetate, a myelin basic protein peptide-analogue followed in 1996, with similar effects (Johnson 2012). These early DMTs may reduce time to conversion to definitive MS (Tedeholm et al. 2013), but early treatment with these drugs does not generally affect disability progression five years later (Kappos et al. 2009). A large Canadian population-based study neither found long-term effects on disability (Shirani et al. 2012). When both clinical and neuroradiological evidence of continued disease activity were taken into account, more than half of the patients who started treatment with these first-line drugs had an inadequate response within the first 2 years (Rudick and Polman 2009). Thus both short-term and long-term effects of the early first line treatments for MS are modest.

The first phase III study of Natalizumab was published in 1996 (Polman et al. 2006). This is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds to the a4-integrin of very late antigen-4, a surface marker present on immune cells, and is given by monthly IV infusion (Piehl 2014). This drug reduced the relapse rate after one year by 68 percent and led to an 83 percent reduction in radiological progression compared to placebo (Polman et al. 2006). Fingolimod was the first oral treatment approved for RRMS and also the first drug to target the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors, arresting immune cells in peripheral lymph nodes (Piehl 2014). Fingolimod showed a reduction of relapses of 53–60% compared to placebo and of 38–52% compared to IFNb, respectively (Cohen et al. 2010; Kappos et al. 2010). However, risk of severe side-effects, most notably Progressive Multifocal Leucoencephalopathy (PML) when using Natalizumab and cardiac arrhythmias when using Fingolimod have limited the use of these treatments (Piehl 2014). After the data collection for this thesis, several new treatments have become available, including Alemtuzumab (a humanized monoclonal antibody directed against CD52, a surface antigen expressed on certain subtypes of lymphocytes, originally approved for the treatment of haematological malignancies), Dimetylfumarate (the methyl ester of fumaric acid, an intermediate in the citric acid cycle, previously used for the treatment of psoriasis) and Teriflunomide (an inhibitor of the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, thought to exert cytotoxic effects on proliferating lymphocytes and possibly involved in the modulation of cytokine production) (Piehl 2014). The mode of action of these and other proposed drugs are illustrated in Figure 14 and the trade name and administration of different treatments in use in Norway are illustrated in Table 2.

In addition to these established treatments, recent publications of the effects of autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation have shown very promising results, though randomized controlled studies are still lacking (Burman et al. 2014; Burt et al. 2015; Nash et al. 2015).

Treatment of symptoms, like spasticity, pain, bladder dysfunction, walking disability, depression and epileptic seizures may alleviate the patients' symptoms

Drug	Trade name	Administration	1 st , 2 nd or 3rd line treatment			
Interferonß1b	Betaferon®/ Extavia®	250 μg sc every other day	1			
Interferonß1a	Avonex®/ Rebif®	30 µg sc weekly/ 22/44 µg sc three times per week	1			
Glatiramer acetate	Copaxone®	20 mg sc daily	1			
Fingolimod	Gilenya®	0.5 mg p.o. daily	2			
Natalizumab	Tysabri®	300 mg i.v. monthly	2			
Teriflunomide	Aubagio®	14 mg po daily	1			
Dimetylfumarate	Tecfidera®	240 mg p.o. twice daily	1			
Alemtuzumab	Lemtrada®	12 mg iv x5/x3 two series of treatment a year apart	1 and 2			
Autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation		Research protocol at Haukeland University Hospital	3			
rase 2. Disease modulatory treatments in Norway in 2013. Inditiation. Gro Owien Nygadit						

(Toosy et al. 2014a; Feinstein et al. 2015). However, MS patients often have multiple symptoms and pharmacological treatment targeting one symptom may lead to the worsening of another. Thus in practice, an effective response may be hard to achieve (Feinstein et al. 2015). For these patients, multidisciplinary rehabilitation may be useful and improve daily function (Grasso et al. 2005).
Neuropsychiatric rehabilitation is still in its infancy (Rosti-Otajärvi and Hämäläinen 2014). Studies of daily physical activity (Rietberg et al. 2014) and cognitive reserve-building activities (Schwartz et al. 2015) show that MS patients are less active, both physically and cognitively, than healthy controls. There are few studies of the effect of lifestyle interventions on cognition and other symptoms in MS patients. However, a pilot study has found that physical exercise may improve cognition in progressive MS (Briken et al. 2014), and some studies indicate that reserve-building activities like cognitive training may improve cognitive test results and alter functional cortical networks (Penner et al. 2007; Hubacher et al. 2015).

3. Aims of the study

The overall aim of the study was to explore the association between neurological, cognitive, fatigue and depressive symptoms and MRI characteristics in early RRMS. This was sought through clinical, paraclinical and experimental examinations of a cohort of recently diagnosed RRMS patients. A better understanding of these associations will improve future treatment of this patient group.

Specific aims were:

1) To investigate the differences in cortical structure between healthy controls and early MS patients, and to assess whether the cortical structure of the RRMS patients were associated with neurological, cognitive, fatigue or depressive symptoms.

2) To determine whether RRMS patients with evidence of disease activity at one year follow-up had similar change in disability, cognition and brain volumes as patients without evidence of disease activity and healthy controls.

3) To investigate whether the results of a common test of processing speed in MS, the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT), was affected by disease specific confounders like saccadic initiation time or hand motor speed in early MS patients.

4) To assess whether RRMS patients and controls had similar pupillary responses to problem-solving, and to assess whether these responses differed according to cognitive scores, fatigue levels or depressive symptoms.

4. Summary of results

4.1 Paper I

Cortical thickness and surface area relate to specific symptoms in early relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis

Cortical atrophy is common in early RRMS. Whether this atrophy was caused by changes in cortical thickness or cortical surface area was not known prior to this study, nor was the correlation between these measures and clinical symptoms. The objective of this study was to investigate the difference in cortical surface area, cortical thickness and cortical volume between early RRMS patients and healthy controls, and to study the relationship between these measures and neurological disability, cognitive decline, fatigue and depression. RRMS patients (n = 61, mean age 34 years, mean disease duration 2.4 years) underwent MRI, neurological and neuropsychological examinations. We estimated cortical surface area, thickness and volume and compared them with matched healthy controls (n = 61, mean age 34 years). We estimated the correlations between clinical symptoms and cortical measures within the patient group. We found no differences in cortical surface area, but widespread differences in cortical thickness and volume between the groups. Neurological disability was related to regionally smaller cortical thickness and volume. Better verbal memory was related to regionally larger surface area, and better visuospatial memory related to regionally larger cortical volume. Higher depression scores and fatigue were associated with regionally smaller cortical surface area and volume. We concluded that cortical thickness, but not cortical surface area, was affected in early RRMS and identified specific structural correlates to the main clinical symptoms in early RRMS

4.2 Paper II

A longitudinal study of disability, cognition and gray matter atrophy in early multiple sclerosis patients according to evidence of disease activity

New treatment options may make "no evidence of disease activity" (NEDA: no relapses or disability progression and no new or enlarging MRI lesions, as opposed to "evidence of disease activity" [EDA] with at least one of the former), an achievable goal in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS). The objective of this study was to determine whether early RRMS patients with EDA at one-year follow-up had different disability, cognition, treatment and gray matter (GM) atrophy rates from NEDA patients and healthy controls (HC). RRMS patients (mean age 34 years, mean disease duration 2.2 years) were examined at baseline and one-year follow-up with neurological (n=72), neuropsychological (n=56) and structural MRI (n=57) examinations. Matched HC (n=61) were retested after three years. EDA was found in 46 % of RRMS patients after one year independent on treatment strategy. EDA patients used more first line and less second line disease modifying treatment than NEDA (p=0.004). The patient groups differed in disability at follow-up (p=0.010); EDA patients progressed (EDSS: 1.8-2.2, p=0.010), while NEDA patients improved (EDSS: 2.0-1.7, (p<0.001). Cognitive function was stable in both patient groups. Subcortical GM atrophy rates were higher in EDA patients than HC (p<0.001). These results support the relevance of NEDA as outcome in RRMS and indicate that pathological neurodegeneration in RRMS mainly occur in patients with evidence of disease activity.

4.3 Paper III

Eye and hand motor interactions with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test in early multiple sclerosis

Eye and hand motor dysfunction may be present early in the disease course of RRMS, and can affect the results on visual and written cognitive tests. We aimed to test for differences in saccadic initiation time (SI time) between RRMS patients and healthy controls, and whether SI time and hand motor speed interacted with the written version of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (wSDMT). Patients with RRMS (n=44, mean age 35 years), time since diagnosis < 3 years and matched controls (n=41, mean age 33 years) were examined with ophthalmological, neurological and neuropsychological

tests, as well as structural MRI (white matter lesion load (WMLL) and brainstem lesions), visual evoked potentials (VEP) and eye-tracker examinations of saccades. We found that SI time was longer in RRMS than controls (p<0.05). SI time was neither related to WMLL, nor to the presence of brainstem lesions. Both SI time and 9 hole peg test (9HP) correlated negatively with the results of wSDMT (r=-0.32, p<0.05, r=-0.47, p<0.01), but none correlated with the results of the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT). We concluded that RRMS patients had an increased SI time compared to controls. Cognitive tests results, exemplified by the wSDMT, could be confounded by eye and hand motor function.

4.4 Paper IV

Pupillary responses to problem-solving in early MS patients

Cognitive impairment and fatigue in early multiple sclerosis (MS) patients are frequent and troublesome symptoms, probably related to both structural and functional brain changes. An altered regulation of central neuropeptides could lead to changes in regulation of autonomic function, cognitive difficulties and fatigue. However, whether there is a connection between these symptoms in early MS patients is currently unknown. We tested whether measurements of pupil size during problemsolving in early MS patients could detect early functional brain changes associated with cognitive load. Early MS patients (n= 49, mean disease duration 2.6 years) and healthy controls (n=43) with no prior eye pathology were included. Neurological impairment, MRI, visual evoked potentials (VEP), depression and fatigue were assessed in all the patients. In both groups we assessed processing speed and retinal imaging. Pupil size was recorded with an eye-tracker while patients and controls were orally presented with seven multiplication tasks of increasing difficulty. We found that both groups performed well on the cognitive test. The groups showed similar pupillary responses to cognitive tasks at a group level with 15.8 % dilation in patients and 15.7 % dilation in controls for the easy tasks (t=0.02, p=0.982). However, while controls with low cognitive scores (LCS) (n=9) had an increased pupillary response to cognitive tasks, LCS

MS patients (n=6) did not show such an increased response (Analysis of variance (ANOVA) between-groups effect: F(2, 25)=8.10, p=0.009). There was a trend towards a smaller pupillary response in patients with fatigue and depression (ANOVA between-groups effect: F(2, 30)=2.60, p=0.118) and F(2, 30)=1.14, p=0.294). This is the first study to investigate pupillary responses to cognitive tasks in MS patients. Our results suggest that MS-related changes in cognition and fatigue are associated with changes in the autonomic regulation of task-related pupillary responses. This supports the theory of a link between cognition and fatigue in MS.

5. Methodological considerations

This thesis is based on clinical quantitative research, i.e. we have raised scientific hypotheses and used statistics to test whether the corresponding null-hypotheses could be discarded (Laake et al. 2008). There are several points to consider when evaluating such research. First, the population tested should be suitable to for testing our hypotheses. Secondly, the measures should be relevant and precise. And at last, the statistical methods used should provide estimates of effect sizes and their uncertainty, and guide us to decide whether our null-hypotheses should be discarded (Laake and Hjartåker 2007).

5.1 Study design

Internal validity relates to the extent to which the results reflect the populations tested, for example whether we were able to capture the true depressive symptoms in our patient cohort. Selection bias, information bias and wrong statistical methods may threaten internal validity (Laake and Hjartåker 2007). External validity relates to whether the results can be generalized to another population, e.g. whether our cohort resembles a cohort of patients in another city or another country. A good study design would lead to good external validity (Laake and Hjartåker 2007).

The studies in this thesis were observational, i.e. the participants had not been exposed to any systematic medical intervention, except for treatment according to national guidelines, that could alter their risk of disease or disease progression (Laake and Hjartåker 2007). However, in both Paper III and Paper IV, we have used experimental tasks, i.e. examinations not in common use. These tasks have been designed specifically for the purpose of the study to investigate the potential differences in outcome between the participants.

The material in this thesis is provided from baseline and follow-up examinations of a cohort of early MS patients collected in a hospital clinic and with a time since diagnosis of less than four years, and matched controls. Paper I, III and IV had a crosssectional design; patients and controls were examined at one time-point, matched on group level, and compared. The patients were identified retrospectively, i.e. after the diagnosis of RRMS. In cross-sectional studies a careful selection of patients and controls is necessary to avoid a selection bias, as discussed in the next section.

Also, there is a potential to encounter an information bias. An information bias may occur if a variable is measured on a categorical scale, and the error leads the variable to be placed in an incorrect category. Correspondingly, if a variable is measured on continuous scale the error may lead the variable to be over- or underestimated. A non-differential misclassification or information mistake is a misclassification unrelated to other study variables. In contrast, in a differential misclassification the wrongly classified variable is related to other study variables (Rothman 2012). Cross-sectional studies with a retrospective design are susceptible to the differential misclassification called recall bias; i.e. people with a certain disease may have remembered more previous symptoms than healthy people (Laake and Hjartåker 2007). Disease duration, i.e. the time from the first probable symptom of the disease, may thus have been over-estimated in this study because of recall bias. Most of the outcome variables of the studies were, however, unrelated to the patients' subjective recall of events.

Paper II had a prospective longitudinal design, where the main outcome was change in clinical and MRI measures from baseline to follow-up. Here the patients were followed prospectively from baseline to follow-up. The main advantage of prospective cohort studies is the possibility to study causality: e.g. whether differences in exposure at baseline cause different outcomes at follow-up. The disadvantages are that longitudinal studies are time consuming and costly. They are prone to selection bias, i.e. a non-random skewness in the inclusion of participants, as not all the invited participants may wish to participate, either at baseline or follow-up. This could lead to a reduction in the representativeness, i.e. the ability of the study population to reflect the source population, of the cohort. Such a skewness could reduce the external validity of the study (Laake and Hjartåker 2007).

5.2 Patients and controls

5.2 1 Patient recruitment

The patients of these studies were included in the period from January 2012 to December 2012. We aimed to capture all patients who received the diagnosis of RRMS from January 2009 to October 2012 and who lived in regions of Oslo receiving public neurological services from Department of Neurology, Oslo University Hospital (OUH), Ullevål, at the time (Figure 15).

The abundancy of sources for patient identification secured that most of the RRMS patients diagnosed in 2009-2012 in the relevant region were identified (Figure 15). The low number of patients who declined to participate was a methodological strength of the study. However, we did not examine all identified cases because of limited MRI capacity. These unexamined cases may have contributed to selection bias.

The inclusion criteria were a diagnosis of RRMS in the period 2009-2012, age 18-50, and clinical follow-up at the Department of Neurology, OUH, Ullevål. The exclusion criteria were a history of other psychiatric or neurological diseases, drug abuse, previous adverse Gadolinium reaction, pregnancy or breast feeding at inclusion, or non-fluency in Norwegian. The main advantage of these stringent criteria was a welldefined homogenous patient sample, reducing the impact of confounding, i.e. the confusion of effects (Rothman 2012). The disadvantage of these criteria was a possible lower representativeness; the patients investigated may not have represented the average MS patient at the department. Furthermore, the inclusion of patients from only one neurological department, may have led to some selection bias. This may reduce the external validity of the study. However, we did not aim at including all RRMS patients in the region; our main focus was to ensure that we could carefully compare patients and controls, and identify MS as the key factor for the clinical and paraclinical differences observed between the groups.



5.2.2 Healthy Control recruitment

Two different control groups were used in these studies. In Paper 1 and II, healthy controls were selected from the ongoing project "Cognition and plasticity through the lifespan" at the Department of Psychology, University of Oslo, from a pool of approximately 150 eligible participants (Walhovd et al. 2013). Inclusion criteria were right handedness, fluency in Norwegian, normal or corrected to normal vision and hearing and MRI at two timepoints. Exclusion criteria were neurological or psychiatric disease, drug abuse, head trauma, depressive symptoms (BDI>16), Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) score <26 or subjective worries concerning cognitive function. These controls were identified through newspaper advertisements, among students and employees at the University of Oslo. They were matched with the RRMS patients on group level at baseline, based on age, gender and availability of MRI at baseline and follow-up. The method of control recruitment may have led to an excessively healthy or otherwise resourceful sample, and thus to a selection bias. People with high awareness of health and cognitive abilities may have been recruited, i.e. a "Healthy Worker Effect" (Laake and Hjartåker 2007). As can be seen from the background and demographic tables of Paper I, the controls had high general ability levels and high levels of education. They did, however, match our patient sample quite well on these points (see Paper I), so that comparability was ensured.

In Paper III and Paper IV another control group was used. These controls were mainly recruited from the hospital and university environment after direct inquiry by email. The inclusion criteria were age 18-50, fluency in Norwegian and no medical conditions known to affect the visual pathways. These controls were matched on age and gender on a group level to the patient samples of Paper III and IV. Because of the recruitment procedure, we would expect a similar selection bias as with the first control group, i.e. we could have recruited controls with a better health and higher cognitive functions than the patients. As illustrated in these papers, the controls had a slightly higher education and better verbal memory than the patients. However, a similar proportion of patients and controls were classified with low cognitive scores, because they failed at least one of three cognitive tests (Smith Aron 1982; Delis et al. 2000; Benedict et al. 2012a). We therefore believe that for our purposes, the groups were comparable.

5.3 MS diagnosis

The patients included in the study were diagnosed by clinicians at the Department of Neurology, OUH, Ullevål, in 2009-20012 according to the diagnostic criteria at the time (Polman et al. 2005, 2011). The diagnosis was confirmed for study purposes first by patient journal examination, and then by detailed patient interviews, MRI evaluations and clinical investigations. At the start of the inclusion to the study, a relapsing-remitting disease course was not a part of the inclusion criteria. Two patients with primary progressive MS and one with secondary progressive MS were therefore examined. These patients have been followed-up with the same examinations as the included patients, but have been excluded from the studies.

The diagnostic criteria changed during the time of diagnosis of the patients. Most of the patients included received the diagnosis in 2011 according to the 2010 McDonald Criteria. However, some were diagnosed in 2009 and 2010, and were thus subject to slightly different diagnostic criteria. The main difference between the 2005 and 2010 McDonald criteria was the inclusion of MRI evaluations for proof of dissemination in time and space from one MRI examination only (Polman et al. 2011). This alteration of the diagnostic criteria may have reduced the time from disease onset to diagnosis. Some patients potentially eligible to the study may therefore not have fulfilled the 2005 criteria, while they would have been identified with the new criteria. In our study, some patients *not* diagnosed with MS according to the 2005 McDonald Criteria may thus have been classified as CIS and were not included in the study. The most probable consequence of the slight change in diagnostic criteria was a longer delay from disease onset to diagnosis in the patients diagnosed according to the 2005 McDonald Critera.

48

5.4 Clinical assessments

5.4.1 Neurological assessment

In MS EDSS is widely used as a measure of neurological disability (Kurtzke 1983). At the lower end of the scale, i.e. from EDSS 0-4, the scale is a sum score of neurological deficits. At higher EDSS scores (4.5-10) the scale is essentially a measure of mobility (Kurtzke 1983). Gait disabilities are important in the MS patients' evaluation of bodily functions (Heesen et al. 2008). Still, there is little doubt that other symptoms, like fatigue, depressive symptoms and cognitive difficulties are important and gain too little weight in this scale (Cohen et al. 2012). We used the EDSS as the main descriptive neurological outcome measure in all our papers. The patients included all had an EDSS<4 with no or minor gait impairments, so that the outcome represented a sum score of neurological deficits. To compensate for the underestimation of other neurological outcomes, fatigue, depressive symptoms and cognition, we supplemented the protocol with tests to examine these factors.

Other neurological outcome measures have been proposed to overcome the bias of walking ability in EDSS, of which Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) is the best known (Rudick et al. 1997; Cutter et al. 1999). MSCF is a composite measure of walking speed, the 25 feet walking test,(25FWT), a measure of hand function, the 9 hole peg test (9HP) and a measure of processing speed and working memory, the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test 3 seconds version (PASAT) (Gronwall 1977). MSFC has been criticized for the use of the PASAT as the cognitive test of choice. PASAT was originally created to estimate patients' recovery from concussion (Gronwall 1977), and has later been applied to a large range of neurological and psychiatric disorders (Tombaugh 2006). It is often regarded unpleasant to complete both by patients and examiners, it relies on mathematical skills and it is negatively affected by age, IQ and speed of speech (Tombaugh 2006). Further, MSFC has the disadvantage of complicated scoring procedures, as the scale is based on z-scores created for each study, not on standardized norms or cut-off values. New versions of MSFC, possibly with another

cognitive test and easier scoring algorithms, are therefore warranted (Brochet et al. 2008; Drake et al. 2010; Cohen et al. 2012). In Paper I-III we used the raw scores of the tests included in the MSFC. We did, however, also include other cognitive tests, like the SDMT, possibly with better psychometric abilities (Van Schependom et al. 2014a).

5.4.2 Cognitive assessment

Standardized test batteries for the assessment of cognitive impairments in MS patients were introduced in the 1990s. The most well-known batteries are Rao's Brief Repeated Battery (BRB) (Rao et al. 1991) and the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in MS (MACFIMS) (Benedict et al. 2002), with partly overlapping and partly complementary cognitive tests. As we planned this study, an international consensus group published another, even shorter, test battery; the Brief International Cognitive Assessment in Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS) (Langdon et al. 2011). This 15 minutes battery was meant for use in research and initial non-specialist examinations of cognition in MS, and has the advantage of short administration time, simple procedures and scoring systems, tests of the main domains affected in MS patients, and inclusion of tests that were thought to have good cross-cultural validity (Benedict et al. 2012a; Dusankova et al. 2012). Validation and translation of BICAMS have already been performed in several countries, and more studies are ongoing (Dusankova et al. 2012; Eshaghi et al. 2012; Goretti et al. 2014). We did not perform a thorough validation of this test battery as part of our study. The verbal memory test, CVLT -2 already was thoroughly validated and translated to Norwegian (Lundervold and Sundet 2004). The other tests were non-professionally translated and the symbols used were visually examined and regarded appropriate in a Norwegian population. In paper I we compared the patients' scores with published American norms (Nygaard et al. 2014). This procedure may have led to artificially low scores because of flawed instructions of SDMT and BVMT, or to artificially high scores because of cultural cues overlooked among the symbols in the same tests. However, both SDMT and BVMT require minimally verbal instruction and the symbols used have not been assessed differently in any cross-cultural translation (Benedict et al. 2012a; Dusankova et al. 2012; Eshaghi

et al. 2012). We therefore believe that the administration of these tests were appropriate. For Paper II, III and IV the outcome of interest were either change in test score (Paper II), association with tests of other functions (Paper III) or comparison to a Norwegian healthy control sample (Paper IV), thus the bias was non-differential, if present at all.

For assessments of general ability levels in Paper I we used the Norwegian version of the vocabulary and matrix reasoning of the Wechsler's Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI) (Wechsler 1999; Brager-Larsen 2001). The Norwegian version of WASI provides very similar intelligence estimates as the original and longer Wechlser Adult Intelligence Scale III (WAIS III) and the Norwegian translation has retained its properties as a robust estimate of general ability levels (Bosnes 2009).

The healthy controls included in Paper I and Paper II had been investigated at baseline with a comprehensive battery of cognitive tests before the patient examinations in our studies. To ensure both comparability with the healthy controls and tests relevant for an MS population, we chose not to adhere strictly to either battery, but to create a test battery that would capture both comparability with the controls and disease-specific relevance (Table 3). Thus we were able to compare patients and controls on certain cognitive domains and to use tests common in MS research to ensure readability and comprehension within the research community.

We encountered an unforeseen methodological problem with the use of BVMT and, most of all, with CVLT. For the latter both patients and healthy controls performed much better than previous published norms (Nygaard et al. 2014). Thus we encountered a possible ceiling effect, where the true abilities of the participants could not be measured, as most of the participants performed at the upper extreme of the test scores. These results may be caused by a selection bias; both patients and controls were recruited from young, well-educated, urban, mostly female persons. The healthy control sample of Paper III and IV was partly recruited from the hospital environment, and remembering daily to-do-lists may be part of their professional work, thus they

Cognitive domain	Test used	Tested in patients	Tested in Healthy Controls in Paper I and II	Tested in Healthy Controls in Paper II and IV
General ability level	WASI vocabulary and matrix reasoning	Yes	Yes	No
Processing speed	SDMT	Yes	No	Yes
Processing speed/working memory	PASAT	Yes	No	No
Verbal memory	CVLT II	Yes	Yes	Yes
Visuospatial memory	BVMT	Yes	No	Yes

Table 3. Cognitive tests used in Paper I-IV. Illustration: Gro Owren Nygaard

could be particularly gifted or trained in this kind of short-term memory, which may represent a selection bias compared to the patients.

We have not published the results of all the tests that the patients and controls have undergone due to excess of collected data. This could have led to a *publishing bias* (Laake et al. 2008), i.e. that we only published positive results. However, which cognitive outcome measures to include in the papers were decided on before the statistical analyses. The patients mainly scored similarly as the controls, also indicating that such a selection of positive results did not take place.

5.4.3 Assessment of evidence of disease activity

In Paper II we evaluated the patients in our cohort after 13 months according to NEDA. Patients with no relapses, no disability progression and no radiological progression at follow-up compared to baseline were classified as NEDA. *A relapse* was defined as any new neurological symptoms, not associated with fever or infection, lasting for at least 24 hours and accompanied by new neurological signs. *Disability progression* was defined as an increase in EDSS≥1 compared to baseline in the absence of a relapse the last six weeks before examination. *Radiological progression* was defined as at least one new or enlarging T2 or FLAIR WML (with or without gadolinium

enhancement on T1) compared to MRI at baseline. Patients with *either* a relapse, *or* disability progression *or* radiological progression were classified as with evidence of disease activity (EDA).

In our definition of NEDA we did not make any distinction between neurological worsening and neurodegenerative disability progression, as recommended in the new guidelines for defining the clinical course in MS (Lublin et al. 2014; Giovannoni et al. 2015). Further, we could not know for sure whether the disability progression sustained, since we performed only one follow-up examination in this study.

An international panel recently has suggested a decision model based on an extended variant of NEDA; The Multiple Sclerosis Decision Model (MSDM) (Stangel et al. 2014). This model has the advantage of including a detailed neurological assessment and assessments of both fatigue and cognition; and of less rigorous dichotomous outcomes. The disadvantages are time consuming assessments and complicated algorithms. Thus the use of MSDM may cause time constraints and require clinical training. In contrast, NEDA is based on a dichotomous MRI evaluation, medical history and neurological assessment; which is manageable also in busy outpatient clinics.

5.4.4 Assessment of fatigue

In our study, we used the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) to measure fatigue, a nine item self-report scale for rating fatigue in chronic medical and neurological disorders (Krupp et al. 1989). FSS has the advantages of being well-established, easy to fill in and has shown associations with brain functional and structural changes in MS patients (Filippi et al. 2002; Rocca et al. 2014a). The Norwegian translation and validation has shown good levels of response and the scores are correlated with self-perceived morbidity. The cut-off at four points for categorization into fatigue or non-fatigue has been questioned in a Norwegian validation study, since a large proportion of the participants fulfilled the criteria of fatigue with this cut-off (Lerdal et al. 2005).

A new fatigue scale, Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Function (FSMC), has shown a better distinction between motor and cognitive fatigue symptoms in MS

(Penner et al. 2009). Such a distinction may improve the structure-versus-symptom relationship in future studies. We therefore supplemented the FSS with FSMC assessments in the follow-up of the patients in our study, though these results are not yet published.

5.4.5 Assessment of depression

In MS research, structured interviews to assess whether the patients fulfil diagnostic criteria for depressive disorders are seldom used. Instead questionnaires of depressive symptoms are used to rate and categorize patients according to selfreported depressive symptoms (Feinstein et al. 2014). We have used the Beck Depressive Inventory-II (BDI) (Beck et al. 1996), a self-report psychometric scale, for the assessment of depression. This has been widely used in MS research. There are some notable shortcomings of this scale; the scale overlaps with symptoms that may be caused by neurological changes in MS, like fatigue, altered sleep patterns, changes in appetite, poor concentration and impaired memory (Feinstein et al. 2014). Alternative scales, like the Beck Depression Inventory -Fast Screen (Benedict et al. 2003) and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (Honarmand and Feinstein 2009) have also been validated for use in MS and may be better at separating depression from diseaserelated symptoms (Feinstein et al. 2014). Still BDI is the psychometric scale suggested to be used in the evidence based guidelines for assessment and management of psychiatric disorders in individuals with MS by the American Academy of Neurology (Minden et al. 2014). Our choice of BDI was partly pragmatic, as the healthy controls used in Paper I and II had already filled in this questionnaire in their baseline analyses. The choice of this scale may have led to a confounding of disease-related symptoms on the depression rating. One solution to this problem could have been to exclude the questions most vulnerable to such a confounding from the analyses, as has been done in previous studies of MS and depression (Landrø et al. 2004; Smestad et al. 2010). However, to ensure comparability with the healthy controls, to other studies and for ease of the reader, we chose to adhere to the standard version of the scale.

5.4.6 The use of questionnaires

The patients investigated in this thesis were asked to fill in a comprehensive questionnaire at home, including both questions about depression and fatigue and in addition other questionnaires not yet published. We could not control that all patients filled in the questionnaires. Therefore the studies suffer to some extent from incomplete data collection. As we did not control the environment in which the patients filled in the questionnaires, their answers may have been influenced by unobserved differences in environment (like different living situations influencing perceived fatigue or depression, or different levels of fatigue at different times of the day). Patients could also have been influenced by the surge of the moment; if they filled in the questionnaires right after a long and tiresome examination they may have felt more tired or depressed than usual. The questionnaire may also have been difficult to interpret; though the Norwegian translations and validations make that less probable. And a last; the questionnaires were long and time consuming to fill in; and may thus themselves have led to exhaustion or lack of completion. These factors could have led to concerns concerning internal validity. However, most patients returned the questionnaires, completed them correctly and did not complain of the length of the questionnaires, and we therefore believe that most of these limitations were overcome.

5.5 Neuroimaging

There are several possible confounders when using neuroimaging in patient and control samples. First of all, the imaging modality of choice may not envisage all relevant pathology. Second, the quality of the actual images acquired may be poor. Third, the analysis tools may not be reliable. And last, non-disease related factors may confound the results (like age, gender, life habits, genetics or comorbidities) (De Stefano et al. 2014). Each of these points will be discussed below.

5.5.1 Image acquisition

The patients and the controls of Paper I and II underwent MRI examinations in the same 1.5 T Siemens Avanto scanner (Siemens Medical Solutions) with a 12-channel head coil. This scanner was chosen because the controls had already undergone examinations in this machine. Recent literature has found that stronger magnets not only to detect more MS related lesions, but also to detect more relevant lesions; and the associations between MRI and disability is higher with higher field strengths (Stankiewicz et al. 2011). We regarded the advantages of including a healthy control group scanned in the same machine as more important, but this choice may have contributed to the relatively low association between cortical structure and patient signs and symptoms in Paper I.

The controls were scanned between June 2007 and December 2008 at baseline and between January 2011 and June 2013 at follow-up. The patients were scanned between January 2012 and January 2013 at baseline and between April 2013 and February 2014 at follow-up. The longer interval between the MRI examinations of the controls may have led to changes in field inhomogeneities and other changes in the MRI machine. However, the Magnetization Prepared Rapid Gradient Echo (MP-RAGE) sequences were kept identical between the scanning periods. We used 3-dimensional T1-weighted MP-RAGE sequences for surface-based and volumetric analyses, and combined the MP-RAGE and the Fluid-Attenuated Inversion Recovery (FLAIR) sequence to estimate the white matter (WM) lesion load.

The sequences parameters of the MP-RAGE sequences were: repetition time/ echo time/time to inversion/flip angle = 2400 ms / 3.61 ms / 1000 ms / 8°, matrix 192 × 192, field of view= 240. Each scan lasted 7 min 42 s and consisted of 160 sagittal slices with a voxel size of $1.20 \times 1.25 \times 1.25$ mm. The FLAIR sequence parameters were as follows: repetition time / echo time / time to inversion / flip angle = 6000 ms / 3.33 ms / 2200 ms / variable T2, matrix 256 × 204, field of view= 260. Each scan lasted 7 min 02 s and consisted of 176 slices, with a slice thickness of 1 mm and a voxel size of $1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.0$ mm.

56

The ideal voxel size for surface based and volumetric studies is not known. However, a voxel size between 1.0 and 1.25 mm is considered the easiest to work with in the software program we applied (http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/).

Partial voluming, i.e. the phenomenon that a mixture of different tissue within one voxel may lead to misclassification of the tissue and confound the borders of different tissue types in MRI studies, may have influenced the location of the CNS GM-WM borders in the studies. Furthermore, artefacts either caused by field inhomogeneities, by metal implants in the participant or by ghosting during the image acquisition could have led to distorted images. To ensure proper clinical patient followup and good quality of the imaging studies, all the scans were evaluated by clinical neuroradiologists and examined for defects and distortions before image analyses, ensuring good imaging quality for all analyses.

5.5.2 Image analyses

For the volumetric and surface-based analyses we used the open source software program FreeSurfer, version 5.1 in Paper I and version 5.3 in Paper II (Figure 16). The analyses were performed in the neuroimaging lab of the Lifespan Changes in Brain and Cognition (LCBC) research group at the Department of Psychology, University of Oslo, with the kind assistance from experienced researchers in the lab. Freesurfer analyses have been applied to MS patient samples also previously (Sailer et al. 2003). Both surface based and volumetric analyses can be performed with this software, both of which are highly relevant for MS research. Furthermore, the longitudinal pipeline in FreeSurfer enables good quality longitudinal analyses (Reuter et al. 2012). The analyses can be run in an automated mode to limit analysis time. However visual inspection is necessary and manual edits may be performed. The long analysis time makes it unfeasible to use this software in everyday clinical practice, but is a good tool in research when large nodes of computational power are available (Vrenken et al. 2012).

The difference in MRI intensity between gray and white matter varies with location in the CNS. This variance is caused partly by local variance in the histology of

cortical gray matter and the subjacent white matter and partly by acquisition artifacts, such as variable penetration of the radio frequency pulse, magnetic field inhomogeneities and local differences in receiver coil sensitivity. (Cortical gray matter in motor cortex is brighter than in frontal cortex, because of its higher myelin content). Furthermore, the highly folded structure of the cerebral surface and the thin fingerlike protrusions of white matter in the cerebral gyri complicate linear approaches to surface reconstruction. These factors have previously led to difficulties in imaging processing of the cerebral surface (Fischl 2012). FreeSurfer has provided solutions to the abovementioned difficulties. The identification of GM-WM-boundaries is based on local differences in intensity. Non-linear registration is applied instead of approximating the surface to a plane. Furthermore, a method where the surface of the cortical boundaries are inflated to a sphere before registration to a common atlas is utilized (Fischl et al. 1999a, 1999b).



The reliability and accuracy of this method have been tested by comparisons to histological measures of cortical thickness (Rosas et al. 2002) and by within-subject test-retest studies, as well as by comparison with previous studies of cross-subject regional cortical thickness (Fischl and Dale 2000). Furthermore, comparisons have been made between FreeSurfer estimates and manual measures of cortical thickness in disease and control populations (Kuperberg et al. 2003) and estimation of the stability of the thickness measures with respect to scanner platform, field strength and sequence type have been performed (Han et al. 2006). Finally, the correlations identified between cortical structure and cognitive measures are stable across scan session, scanner manufacturer and field strengths (Dickerson et al. 2008).

Still, there are several possible processing failures when using the FreeSurfer software. These failures may be divided into hard and soft failures (Fischl 2014). Hard failures are failures in the software programming, leading the programs to end before the processing is complete. These failures may be avoided by an ordered structure of directories, by using well-documented commands and by good data quality. Soft failures are errors during the analysis process, like skull strip errors, segmentation errors, intensity normalization errors, pial surface misplacement or errors creating topological brain defects, like holes and handles on the cortical surface. In the case of these errors, the processing of the structural images is completed, but the result may need manual modifications (Fischl 2014). Manual modifications, on the other hand, may lead to biases, because the operator is not blinded to the identity of the participant or because the operator does not treat the material equally for other reasons. As far as possible, we have tried to control for these errors, by structured analysis procedures, visual evaluation of the segmentation and blinded modification or exclusion of wrongly segmented images.

FreeSurfer is constructed for the analysis of 3D T1 weighted images of about 1 mm³. A recent study comparing 3T and 7T images of healthy individuals concluded that both this software and other image analysis software may overestimate human cerebral cortical thickness from analyses of images from 1.5 or 3T MRI machines,

because of partial voluming (Lüsebrink et al. 2013). This overestimation is, however, hard to overcome with the available MRI platforms and image analysis tools available today.

FreeSurfer has been used in MS research for more than a decade. One of the first studies identifying regional cortical thickness in MS patients was performed using this technique (Sailer et al. 2003). Recent studies have provided evidence that this method can be used in MS multicenter-studies (Narayana et al. 2012) and longitudinal analyses (Rinaldi et al. 2012). The impact of juxtacortical lesions on the segmentation of the GM/WM border has specific interest in MS research. Recent research has suggested that lesion filling, i.e. replacing juxtacortical WMLs with the signal intensity of surrounding WM to improve GM/WM separation, could improve MRI analyses in MS samples (Battaglini et al. 2012). We did not utilize this method and may have underestimated the annual GM atrophy in our analyses (see Paper II). However, we do not believe that this limitation impacts on our main results.

Estimates of white matter lesion load (WMLL) for analyses in Paper I and III were performed using an automatic pipeline for WMLL estimates (http://ki.se/en/nvs/cascade) (Damangir et al. 2012). This method has also been used



Figure 17. WM lesions on FLAIR image of MS patients and delineation of WM lesion using Cascade. Illustration: Piotr Sowa/Gro Owren Nygaard

in the estimation of WMLL of patients with coronary heart disease and Alzheimer's disease (Vuorinen et al. 2014a, 2014b). The method achieved high sensitivity (90%) and specificity (99.5%) when compared to manual delineation of WML (Figure 17) (Damangir et al. 2012).

Taken together, we regard the image analysis tools used in this study well validated both in healthy participants and in the MS population, and well suited for the purposes in this study.

5.6 Assessment of vision, retinal nerve layer and visual evoked potentials

The decrements to the visual pathway may confound the results of tests of eye movements and pupillary responses. We therefore controlled for the results of these tests in Paper III and IV. These tests are discussed briefly below.

5.6.1 The link between neuroimaging and brain structure

Several studies support an association between MRI results and pathological findings in MS (Filippi et al. 2012; Rocca et al. 2015). We therefore chose to use MRI to

assess CNS differences between patients and controls and to assess longitudinal volumetric changes.

5.6.2 Assessment of vision

In Paper III and IV assessments of vision of patients and controls were performed at the Department of Ophthalmology by an experienced ophthalmologist and co-worker, MD Sigrid Aune de Rodez Benavent (SADRB), and by experienced research opticians at the department. Visual acuity was



Figure 18. The Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) standardized viewer. Model ESV 3000, printed with permission from Good-Lite Co., Elgin, IL).

tested at four meter using an Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) standardized viewer (Figure 18) (model ESV 3000; Good-Lite Co., Elgin, IL) (Ferris et al. 1982). The spherical equivalents of the participants' prescription, a measure of the curvature of the cornea, were reported (Millidot 2009).

5.6.3 Assessment of retinal nerve fiber layer

Optic coherence tomography (OCT) offers a unique possibility to non-invasively and directly assess a part of the CNS, the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) (Balcer et al. 2014). In Paper IV, where our main aim was to examine task-related pupillary responses in early MS patients, we controlled for the possible effect of differences in RNFL between the groups. Retinal imaging was performed by the same trained ophthalmologist (SADRB) with the spectral domain RS-3000 OCT Retina Scan (Nidek Inc., CA, USA). RNFL data were obtained with the Disc Circle protocol with a scan width of 3.45 mm and a scanning speed of 53 000 A-scans/s, centered on the optic nerve (Figure 19). All scans included had a signal strength of 8/10 or better.



Figure 19. OCT of MS patient with a history of ON on her left eye. RNFL is delineated by the orange and red lines. Illustration: Sigrid Aune des Rodez Benavent/Gro Owren Nygaard

5.6.4 Assessment of visual evoked potentials

Assessments of visual evoked potentials to p100 (VEP) estimates the time for the neural impulses caused by a checker board stimuli to reach from the retina via the optic nerve to the visual cortex (Figure 20) (Sand et al. 2013). VEP is a sensitive marker of previous ON, and can be used when a history of ON is a deciding factor for a MS diagnosis (Polman et al. 2011; Sand et al. 2013). It is frequently pathological in MS patients, also in patients without a history of clinical ON, and prolonged VEPs are

associated with disability (Di Maggio et al. 2014). VEPs were obtained and analyzed at the Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, OUH, Ullevål. The examinations were performed with dimmed



Figure 20. Assessment of visual evoked potentials. Printed with permission from (Sand et al. 2013), Tidsskriftet for den Norske Legeforening and J. Engqvist.

light. The screen was placed 100 cm from the eyes of the patients, with a Dantec Keypoint Focus system with checkerboard patterns (check size 65') presented at 2 Hz with a 16" cathode ray tube screen. Three hundred responses were averaged from the mid-occipital lobe to the mid-frontal lobe. The VEP results were evaluated by two experienced clinical neurophysiologists (Kristian Bernhard Nilsen and Lars Etholm). VEP was regarded pathological with VEP delay > 110 ms and/or with a delay at least 6 ms greater than compared to the contralateral eye.

5.7 Eye-tracker measurements

We used a SMI (SensoMotoric Instruments, Teltow, Germany) R.E.D. eyetracking device with a remote unit attached below a 22 inch computer screen (Dell, P2210) for the assessment of eye movements and the task-related pupillary responses in Paper III and IV. Measurements were conducted throughout the day for both groups.

We did not use a head fixator or chin rest during the experiments. This rendered the experiments more sensitive to confounders like disease-related head tremor (White and Fielding 2012). To control for this, all participants went through a calibration procedure, where a fivepoint pattern was displayed to the participants before running the eyetracking sessions. The participants who did not reach the calibration criteria were excluded from the analyses.

Blinking temporarily disrupts the pupillometric measurements, but we did not observe any pathological blinking in the MS patients examined. We would therefore expect these disruptions to affect patients and controls similarly. Any disruption would then



Rodez Benavent/Gro Owren Nygaard

lead to a non-differential measurement bias, and not cause any false differences between the groups.

Data was recorded at a sampling rate of 60 Hz, i.e. new measurements every 16 ms. Higher sampling rates are possible and would have captured more details of rapid eye movements, minute pupillary changes and, possibly, more noise. Fielding and coworkers have performed similar experiments with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz (Fielding et al. 2009). The variations in measurements of delay to saccadic onset were similar in magnitude in Fielding's study and ours (Fielding et al. 2009). Therefore, for our main outcome, saccadic initiation (SI) time, we believe that our sampling rate was sufficient.

Our experimental setup was designed and the stimuli presentation was implemented using SMI Experiment Center[®], which synchronized eye-movement recordings to the presentation of the stimuli. As can be seen from the illustration (Figure 21), the participants were instructed to fixate at the center of the screen and then move their gaze towards the star in the appropriate corner with the appearance of a central arrow. Some cognitive processing was necessary to decide on the direction of the arrow. This time spent to evaluate the direction of the arrow was included in the SI time. In everyday situations one would often have to evaluate a cue before a saccadic initiation. Therefore we our experimental design was realistic. However, as we do not separate the cognitive operation of choosing direction and the saccadic eye movement our results are not readily comparable to previous studies (e.g. (Fielding et al. 2009).

5.8 Statistical considerations

5.8.1 Sample size

The *reference population* is the population from which the participants of the studies were drawn. If not all the participants in the reference population are included in a study, the study will potentially suffer from *sampling variation*, i.e. variations in the

variables measured because of differences between the chosen sample and the reference population (Kirkwood and Sterne 2003). Because of sampling variation we cannot rule out the possibility that the size of the effect observed in the study will be different from the true effect. In other words we can never guarantee that a study will be able to detect an effect however large we make it. However, we can increase the probability of a true result by increasing the sample size. This is called the *power* of the study. Ideally, we would perform power calculations, i.e. calculations of the sample size necessary to have a certain probability of capturing a real effect in our study, before the initiation of a study (Kirkwood and Sterne 2003). However, as our study was restricted by patient and MRI availability we did not perform such analyses.

5.8.2 Statistical tests

We used IBM SPSS Statistics v 22 (SPSS, Chicago, IL) for statistical analyses. We visually inspected histograms and Q-Q plots of the data to assess whether the data was normally distributed. All data satisfied this normality check. We then tested for difference between patients and controls, between the patients at different time points and between subgroups (e.g. EDA, NEDA and HC) with appropriate tests. Independent samples t-tests, paired samples t-tests, χ^2 -tests and one-way between-group analyses of variance (ANOVAs) with Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc tests were applied. The χ^2 -tests performed on categorical variables with two values only (e.g. gender) were corrected for possible overestimation with Yate's continuity correction.

To control for differences in age and gender between the patient groups (for example EDA and NEDA) we performed one-way between-group analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs) where appropriate with the dependent variable of interest (for example volumetric measurements and atrophy rates), group as a fixed factor, and age and gender as covariates.

In Paper II the scan interval was longer for HC than patients, therefore annual percent change of the cortical and subcortical volumes were estimated as described in FreeSurfer version 5.3 (Reuter et al. 2010).

5.8.3 Type 1 and Type 2 errors

When performing a hypothesis test, we get one of four outcomes, as illustrated in Table 4. We may correctly sustain or discard the null-hypothesis. However, two mistakes can be made. First, we may discard the null-hypothesis even though it is true. This is called a *Type 1 error*. Second, we may accept the null-hypothesis even though it is wrong. This is called a *Type 2 error* (Kirkwood and Sterne 2003; Laake et al. 2008). We can reduce the probability of Type 1 errors by using a lower significance level, and Type 2 errors by increasing the power of the study, either by a higher sample size or an increased precision of the measurements.

All results in this thesis were reported based on a *significance level* of 0.05. The significance level, or p-value, equals the probability of the occurrence of a result as extreme as, or even more extreme, than the one observed, even though the null hypothesis is true (Kirkwood and Sterne 2003). When we reported that we found a difference in disability between NEDA and EDA patients at follow-up in Paper II, the probability of the observed difference occurring by chance, even though it was not true, was below 5 %.

	Reality		
Conclusion of significance test	Null hypothesis is true	Null hypothesis is false	
Reject null hypothesis	Type 1 error	Correct conclusion	
Do not reject null hypothesis	Correct conclusion	Type 2 error	

 Table 4. Type 1 and type 2 errors. Based on (Kirkwood and Sterne 2003). Illustration: Gro Owren

 Nvgaard

When performing multiple testing, we corrected for this, either using Monte Carlo simulations provided in Freesurfer (Paper I) or by Bonferroni corrections (Paper II and IV), to keep the chance of type I errors low. Further, we sought to use methods with good precision, to reduce the chance of type II errors. However, as our studies were restricted by MRI and patient availability, we did not have the opportunity to increase power by increasing sample size. In Paper IV the large variation in task-related pupillary responses (Peak pupillary dilation was 15.8 % (SD 7.4) in patients and 15.7 % (SD 7.9) in controls) and relatively small sample size (41 patients and 43 controls) may have led to a type II error; there may be differences between patients and controls not identified with our tests.

5.9 Ethics

5.9.1 Ethical approvals

This project was approved by the Ethical Committee of the South-Eastern Region of Norway. All participants received oral and written information and gave written consent to participate in the study.

5.9.2 Ethical considerations of clinical and cognitive assessments

The main inconvenience to the participants in this study was the possible exhaustion caused by the time consuming examinations. The patients may have felt obliged to participate in the study because of loyalty to the treating institution or because of personal knowledge of any of the clinicians involved in the study. Furthermore the patients may have become more aware of the large variety of possible symptoms in MS because of the different tests, and may thus have been unnecessarily worried.

To avoid exhaustion we always made sure that the patients wanted to proceed during the examinations and adjusted the test situations when necessary. Whenever the patients were worried about the test results we provided follow-up consultations to give feedback and explain the results of the tests. And, finally, the positive responses throughout the examinations ensured us that participation in the study was mostly a positive experience for both patients and controls.

5.9.3 Ethical considerations of MRI assessments

MRI assessments are generally regarded safe, even though there are several minor and possibly major risk factors involved, mainly caused by the strong magnetic field in the magnet (Westbrook et al. 2011). Magnetic objects or implants may cause damage to the participants if the safety requirements are not followed, and the radio frequency pulse leads to a transient heating of the patient, possibly inducing the heatrelated Uthoff's phenomenon, causing reversible neurological symptoms in MS patients. Furthermore, the noise of the MRI machine and the long period of immobility may lead to reversible discomfort or to fear in participants with claustrophobia (Westbrook et al. 2011).

The intravenous injection of Gadolinium to evaluate blood-brain-barrier leakage is also considered safe to patients without renal failure (Westbrook et al. 2011). However, recent studies have indicated that Gadolinium may in fact accumulate in the brain of patients after several injections (Kanda et al. 2015). The pathophysiological consequence of this accumulation is not known. Gadolinium is, however, a lethal agent and Gadolinium chelates should not be administered unless there are medical indications. In this study we performed MRIs with Gadolinium chelate-injections as part of clinical follow-up. However, because the patients in the study were scanned and clinically followed at two locations of the hospital physically and technologically separated, we were not able to completely avoid that some patients underwent more examinations than strictly necessary.

69

6. General discussion

6.1 Structure of the cerebral cortex in early MS patients

Gray matter atrophy early in the disease course has been associated with longterm disability in MS (Filippi et al. 2013a; Popescu et al. 2013) and is considered an important target in new treatment studies (Filippi et al. 2014). In the first paper of this thesis we confirmed that the cerebral cortex of MS patients with short disease duration (mean 26 months) was thinner than in healthy controls. These results were in line with previous research (De Stefano et al. 2003; Sailer et al. 2003), and showed that cortical thinning was present also in patients from our population-based cohort.

While cortical thickness has been thoroughly examined in MS, cortical surface area has barely been studied. Previous studies have shown that cortical surface area is reduced in developmental disorders like Williams syndrome (Meda et al. 2012) and microcephaly (Rimol et al. 2010). In other neurological disorders, like Parkinson's disease, an increased cortical surface area compared to controls has been identified (Jubault et al. 2011). A small study of patients with Alzheimer's disease did not reveal differences in surface area between patients and controls in the temporal lobe (Dickerson et al. 2009). We did not identify any reductions in cortical surface area in MS patients compared to healthy controls in Paper I. Another recent study, predominantly studying cerebral curvature and white matter volume in CIS and MS patients, also found preserved cortical surface area in MS patients using Freesurfer software (Deppe et al. 2014). Other studies have found a reduced cortical surface area in MS patients compared to controls (Hier and Wang 2007; Gorgoraptis et al. 2010). This difference may in part be caused by differences in disease duration and procedure used in the studies. Compared to the first study (Hier and Wang 2007), we included more patients and used a robust method. Compared to Gorgoraptis and colleagues (Gorgoraptis et al. 2010) our patients had a lower age and lower disability, otherwise our methods were comparable.

Pathophysiologically the cortical surface area is an interesting measurement, because meningeal inflammation may play an important role in MS pathogenesis. Ectopic B-cell follicle-like structures in the deep sulci of the brain have been identified in around 40% of patients with secondary progressive MS. The presence of such inflammation was associated with a more severe disease course (Howell et al. 2011). Such inflammation could potentially cause a reduction of the cortical surface area. Our study indicated that if cortical inflammation was present early in the disease, it did not alter the cortical surface area. Taken together, ours and other's research may therefore indicate that the cortical surface area is affected differently during the course of the disease. Longitudinal studies of changes in the structure of the cerebral cortex in MS are lacking, but may provide further insight into the pathophysiological events in early MS and the clinical impact of these changes.

6.2 Association between cortical structure and specific symptoms – indicators of emotional brain reserve in MS patients

In Paper I we found that higher disability in MS patients was associated with a regionally thinner cortex and an overall higher lesion load (r=0.3), similar to other studies (De Stefano et al. 2003; Sailer et al. 2003; Narayana et al. 2012). This gap between disability and proof of structural brain damage by imaging, termed the "clinico-radiological paradox" (Barkhof 2002), may partly be explained by the lack of specificity of the disability score EDSS (Cohen et al. 2012) and by the fact that not all structural brain damage is visible on standard MRI sequences (Filippi et al. 2012). In addition functional brain changes may occur as a response to the disease (Rocca et al. 2003).

We also identified an association between fatigue and cortical volume of the right fronto-parietal region, similar to previous studies of MS patients with fatigue (Calabrese et al. 2010a; Pellicano et al. 2010; Gobbi et al. 2014). These results fit with the hypothesis that there is a thalamo-striato-cortical determinant to fatigue (Engström et al. 2013). Furthermore, they support the concept that fatigue in MS is related, at

least in part, to characteristics of frontal and parietal cortical areas, known to be involved in cognitive and attention processing, even from the early stages of disease.

We further identified an association between depression and cortical surface area, mainly in the frontal and parietal lobes, as well as an association between depression and a smaller cortical volume in the same regions. Associations between depression and regional cerebral volume changes in MS patients have also been identified previously (Bakshi et al. 2000a; Gobbi et al. 2014). We found a negative association between cortical surface area and depressive symptoms in cerebral regions with no reduced surface area in the patient group compared to the controls. This may possibly indicate the presence of an emotional "brain reserve"; a larger surface area in certain regions may be related to less depressive symptoms when presented with a neurological disease. This hypothesis corresponds to the hypothesis of a cognitive "brain reserve" in MS, where a larger life-time brain volume is associated with less cognitive decline (Sumowski et al. 2014).

6.3 Cognitive function and cognitive reserve in early MS

We identified no cognitive impairment in our patient group compared to published norms. This result is in contrast to most previous studies of early RRMS patients (Rao et al. 1991; Amato et al. 1995, 2010; Achiron and Barak 2003). The first studies of cognition in early MS patients diagnosed patients according to more stringent diagnostic criteria than we used (Amato et al. 1995). Thus the other patients may have had a longer disease duration or a more severe disease than our patients. Further, many studies of cognition in MS have been clinic-based, contributing to a possible selection of more severely ill patients (Achiron and Barak 2003).

The combination of large regional thickness differences between patients and controls, as well as the sparse associations between cognitive performance and cortical morphology in our patient sample, fits with the cognitive reserve hypothesis, i.e. that premorbid education, leisure or other activities may protect against, conceal or
postpone cognitive decline (Sumowski et al. 2009, 2010, 2014; Amato et al. 2013). Most of our patients had high general ability levels and high levels of education. They were either students or working, confirming that this was a well-functioning patient group, and that they participated in "reserve-building" activities (Schwartz et al. 2015). It must, however, be kept in mind that the tests applied here did not capture all aspects of cognition that may be affected by the disease.

Even in the absence of evidence of cognitive decline in our patients, we identified associations between test performance and cortical structure in the patient group. For verbal memory, we identified an association between good performance and a larger cortical surface area in parts of the left occipital and temporal cortex. For visuospatial memory we identified an association between performance and right temporo-parietal volume. These results were similar to studies of regional lobar cortical thickness of MS patients with a longer disease duration (Benedict et al. 2002). We found no association between regional cortical measures and SDMT results in the patient group. This may be explained both by the good performance of the patients and by the nature of the test, further investigated in Paper III.

6.4 Evidence of disease activity in early MS and relation to treatment

With the emergence of new disease modifying treatment (DMT) options, "disease activity free status" (Havrdova et al. 2009; Bevan and Cree 2014) or "no evidence of disease activity" (NEDA) (Rotstein et al. 2014) has been introduced as an ambitious goal of multiple sclerosis (MS) therapy. The rationale for this concept is that MS treatment should aim for no signs of disease activity; neither new relapses, disability progression nor new or enlarging white matter (WM) lesions. In Paper II we evaluated the disease activity in our early RRMS cohort 13 months after baseline and found that 46 % showed evidence of disease activity in spite of treatment according to national guidelines. Thus 54 % of our patients were categorized as NEDA. This proportion of patients with no evidence of disease activity was comparable to a recent cohort study, which found that 46 % of their patients fulfilled the NEDA criteria after one year (Rotstein et al. 2014). Lower proportions of NEDA have been observed in most clinical trials, both for patients receiving DMTs and placebo (Havrdova et al. 2009; Giovannoni et al. 2011; Lublin et al. 2013). In contrast, a recent interim report on the effect of AHCT of MS patients reported 78 % NEDA after 3 years (Nash et al. 2015). In our study patients were included irrespective of disease activity and treatment, while most clinical trials include patients with active disease only. Furthermore, the patients in our cohort were assigned to treatment by their neurologist, not randomized, and all patients in our cohort had disease duration \leq 3 years. Current literature shows that we are still far from the goal of no evidence of disease activity in MS patients. The low proportion of NEDA among the patients receiving first line DMTs (40 %) in our study is of particular interest. Long term effects of first line DMTs in registry studies remain uncertain (Shirani et al. 2012; Tedeholm et al. 2013). Our study supports that these drugs may not give sufficient protection against disease activity in early MS.

6.5 Disability progression, cognition and gray matter atrophy in early MS

Changes in disability, as measured by EDSS, is the most common outcome studied in MS populations (Cohen et al. 2012). In Paper II we found that the NEDA patients improved in disability. A disability improvement has also been reported in other studies, but the observation is rare (Tremlett et al. 2012; Nash et al. 2015). Such an improvement may reflect tissue repair in the absence of inflammation. A disability improvement in the absence of evidence of disease activity makes NEDA a highly relevant goal for future treatment of MS patients. Such data bears promise that adequate treatment may not just halt the disease progression; it may even lead to improvements in function.

In the NEDA group, there was a trend towards an improvement also in processing speed, probably the main cognitive domain affected in MS (Van Schependom et al. 2014b). Even though the observation period of our study was short, this result may have been a consequence of disease stability. The EDA patients caught up with the NEDA group on verbal learning at follow-up. This may have been caused by a combination of practice effects and because they had not yet reached the ceiling of the test score at baseline. Fatigue and depressive symptoms were similar between the patient groups at baseline and at follow-up, indicating that neither of these factors can predict EDA, nor are they the direct consequence of EDA in a one-year perspective.

In line with previous studies, the patients in our study showed both a thinner cerebral cortex and a smaller subcortical volume compared to controls, and annual subcortical GM atrophy rates were larger in patients than controls (Geurts et al. 2012). The subcortical GM atrophy rates between the EDA and NEDA patients differed numerically, but were not significantly distinguishable in our sample. However, the subcortical atrophy rates of the patients with disease activity (EDA) were significantly higher than in the healthy controls. We therefore hypothesized that pathological neurodegeneration in the EDA patient group drives the increased atrophy rates of the RRMS patients.

6.6 Saccadic initiation time and hand motor speed in early MS

Early features of RRMS may include eye motor disturbances (Reulen et al. 1983; Frohman et al. 2005; Graves and Balcer 2010), fine motor control of the hand (Cutter et al. 1999) or cognitive dysfunction (Amato and Ponziani 2001; Amato et al. 2010). The Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) (Smith Aron 1982) is a widely used test of processing speed, recently suggested as sentinel test for cognitive impairment in MS (Van Schependom et al. 2014a). It is part of several test batteries used in the assessment of cognitive impairment in MS patients (Benedict et al. 2002; Langdon et al. 2011) and is suggested for use in clinical trials (Benedict et al. 2012b). Because of the wide use of the SDMT (Benedict et al. 2004; Drake et al. 2010; Langdon et al. 2011), it is important to identify whether decrements in motor function could lead to input or output level problems related to the procedure of the test.

In Paper III we tested Saccadic initiation time (SI time), i.e. the time from a central visual cue appears to the onset of an appropriate saccade in patients and

controls. We found that SI time was increased in patients with MS compared to healthy controls. We also tested motor hand function of the patients with 9HP. We found that both hand function (9HP), and SI time were associated with the test results of the wSDMT. These motor functions were not associated with the auditory and oral test of the same functional domains, PASAT. The fact that SDMT was associated with both saccadic initiation time and hand motor speed implies that the clinician should keep in mind that eye movement disorders and hand motor difficulties could confound the results of this test. These confounders may not affect the real-life value of this test, but in diseases with motor difficulties, like MS, input and output problems may contribute to false low cognitive test scores.

6.7 Pupillary responses to problem solving in MS patients and controls

Cognitive dysfunction and fatigue are common and troublesome symptoms, often present early in the disease course of MS (Krupp et al. 1988; Amato et al. 2010). The cause of these symptoms are only partly accounted for by functional and structural changes visible on MRI (Bakshi et al. 1999; Genova et al. 2013; Rocca et al. 2014a, 2015). Whether there is a connection between autonomic disturbances, fatigue and cognitive difficulties in these patients is currently unknown. In Paper IV we tested whether measures of pupil size during problem-solving in early MS patients could detect early functional brain changes associated with fatigue and cognition.

Pupillometry has been used in psychological research as a marker of *processing load*, i.e. the intensity of mental activity (Laeng et al. 2012). The task-evoked pupillary response provides a reliable and sensitive indicator of within-patient variations in processing load in memory, language, reasoning and perception tasks, and it is sensitive to between-group differences in intelligence (Beatty 1982). The task-evoked pupillary response is associated with activation of locus coeruleus (LC) and noradrenergic activation of large brain regions, including sympathetic and parasympathetic nuclei. Thus the pupillary response mirrors both brain activation (e.g. cognitive load) and central autonomic changes. We found that patients and controls showed similar pupillary responses to cognitive tasks at a group level. This result indicated that most patients and controls had a similar and normal LC response to cognitive tasks. Thus most patients showed a well-functioning task-related allocation of attention that facilitated efficient cognitive processing. This result fits with recent fMRI results of cognitive processing of early MS patients, where normal activation patterns were found in the cognitively preserved patients (Rocca et al. 2014b).

6.8 Pupillary responses to problem solving in patients with different symptoms

As expected from the literature, we found that controls with a low cognitive score (LCS) had an increased pupillary response to simple cognitive tasks compared to controls with normal cognitive scores (Hess and Polt 1964; Beatty 1982). We did, however, not identify any increased pupillary response in the LCS-MS patients. This lack of response could indicate an altered LC activation during cognitive tasks in these MS patients. There was a trend towards a smaller pupillary response in patients with fatigue and depression, but the group differences did not reach significance.

From the clinical impression that MS patients may experience symptom relief with tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) and I-dopa treatment, the hypothesis that MS may be caused by altered noradrenergic (NA) transmission was raised (Berne-Fromell et al. 1987). Even though this hypothesis has little support, there are an increasing number of studies indicating that the LC/CNS NA-system is altered in MS patients. In experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) mice and in autopsies of chronic MS patients, reduction in CNS NA levels and damage to LC neurons have been described (Polak et al. 2011). The same research group found that LC damage increases the symptom severity in EAE, and that increasing NA and NA precursor levels reverse this effect (Simonini et al. 2010).Treatment of EAE mice with a vincamine derivate called vindeburnol, which temporary depletes CNS NA and leads to an upregulation of LC NA levels and metabolism, leads to a reduction in EAE symptoms (Polak et al. 2012). A

randomized controlled trial of treatment to normalize NA levels of the CNS (lofepramine, phenylalanine and B12) in 69 MS patients in different stages of the disease, led to a reduction in MS symptoms in the treated patients (Wade et al. 2002). In a small subgroup of patients, a reduction in T1 lesions and a slower atrophy rate on MRI was observed (Puri et al. 2001). Thus, there are several indicators that the LC/CNS NA-system is altered in MS patients and that this alteration has clinical and pathological consequences.

In line with this, modafinil, a sympathomimetic used in the treatment of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorders, has been suggested as a treatment for fatigue in MS patients (Niepel et al. 2013). The autonomic disturbances present in the fatigued patients prior to treatment were alleviated by the treatment, and it was suggested that the effect of modafinil partly was an indirect dopaminergic effect on the LC (Niepel et al. 2013). The hypothesis that dopaminergic disturbancies may be a key in MS fatigue has also recently been proposed (Dobryakova et al. 2015). Our results indicated that these pathways are mostly preserved in early MS patients, but we propose that pupillary responses in patients with cognitive impairment and fatigue with long disease duration should be investigated further.

6.9 Pupillary responses to problem solving in patients with a history of ON or brainstem lesions

The diversity of the symptoms and the dissemination of lesions and non-lesion pathology in the CNS of MS patients make the isolation of specific causes of different symptoms in MS patients difficult. In particular, altered pupillary responses could be caused by both disruptions of the visual pathways, altered activation of the involved nuclei and of the pathways from these nuclei to the pupillary muscles. Prior to this study it was not known whether the disruption of the visual pathways caused by ON or brainstem lesions would lead to an altered task-related pupillary response in MS patients. In Paper IV we were able to control for both brainstem lesions and a history of ON. Neither brainstem lesions nor ON affected the pupillary response found in patients with preserved vision. This result is important for future studies of the task-related pupillary response in MS patients.

7. Theoretical and clinical implications of the thesis

In this thesis we have examined cognition, disease activity and structural MRI changes in a cohort of early RRMS patients. The results discussed in this thesis have several theoretical and clinical implications.

Damage to cerebral gray matter and a rapid increase in disability early in the disease course are associated with worse long term outcome in MS patients (Degenhardt et al. 2009; Scalfari et al. 2010, 2014; Popescu et al. 2013). The absence of disease activity measured by NEDA identified in Paper II was associated with disability regression and normal GM atrophy rates compared to healthy controls. Thus this thesis supports the use of NEDA as treatment goal for MS patients.

The large proportion of patients on first line DMTs with evidence of disease activity after just one year identified in Paper II (46 %) implies that we did not reach the goal of NEDA in these patients. Considering the potential long term consequences of early disease activity, this study supports a more liberal use of second line DMTs in early MS patients.

After the completion of this study new DMTs have become available and are part of the new treatment guidelines for MS in Norway (under revision) (Hartung et al. 2014; Thomas and Wakefield 2015). Future studies should focus on the effect on disease activity, disability, cognition and GM changes in patients on these treatments as well.

The good and stable performance of the patients on cognitive tests in Paper I-IV results has several implications. Previous studies have found conflicting effects of cognitive reserve on cognition in MS patients as the disease has progressed (Amato et

al. 2013; Sumowski et al. 2014). Our patient group seemed quite robust to cognitive changes early in the disease process. Further investigations of cognitive decline in population-based MS cohorts diagnosed according to the new diagnostic criteria are warranted. Our study was not designed as an epidemiological study, but the cohort was drawn from an unselected patient pool. We therefore expect the disease related symptoms and signs reported in this thesis to resemble those of RRMS patients drawn from similar populations. According to our results, early RRMS patients are mostly cognitively well-functioning, which is relevant for the clinical approach to patient information and care.

We identified associations between depressive symptoms and cortical surface area and volume, and between fatigue and cortical volume in Paper I. These brain regions were not different between patients and controls. A possible implication of these results is that larger cortical surface area and higher cortical volume in certain brain regions could be protective against depressive and energy-related symptoms. Our results indicate that premorbid brain resources may be relevant not only in cognition, but also in the mental health of MS patients. This result should trigger further research into potential "mental brain reserve".

In Paper III we found that wSDMT was associated with both saccadic initiation time and hand motor speed. Thus in diseases with motor difficulties, like MS, input and output problems may contribute to false low cognitive test scores. The study pointed to a problem potentially present when performing testing of any kind: other factors than the one we want to assess may confound the results. Paying attention to the potential pitfalls of confounders in the assessment of patients may help ensuring correct diagnosis and treatment; this holds true both for patients with MS and other neurological disorders.

In Paper IV we found that most patients tested had normal pupillary responses to cognitive tasks, indicating that this method did not identify LC or central autonomic changes on a group level in early MS. We have shown that this method may be used in MS studies, since pupillary responses were preserved in both patients with a history of ON and brainstem lesions on MRI. The patients with low cognitive scores did not show the expected large pupillary responses in our study. This is an indicator that LC activation may be altered in CI MS patients. Future studies of pupillary responses in CI MS patients may contribute to a better understanding of the mechanisms of cognitive impairment in MS.

Schoonheim and coworker have suggested that cognitive impairment is a result of network collapse, induced by structural brain damage and network inefficiency (Schoonheim et al. 2015). Studies of cognitive reserve have shown that education or other intellectual stimuli prior to disease onset may modulate the effect of structural brain damage on cognitive function in MS patients (Sumowski et al. 2009). It is currently not known whether functional changes in cerebral networks are delayed in



on hypotheses of network collapse, cognitive reserve and the role of modulatory neurotransmitters in the development of cognitive decline in MS (Sumowski et al. 2009; Hanken et al. 2014; Schoonheim et al. 2015). Illustration: Gro Owren Nvgaard MS patients with cognitive reserve. The lack of LC activation, illustrated as the low pupillary response in LCS-MS patients could contribute to such a network collapse. From the combined results from literature and the papers included in this thesis I propose a model to explain the mechanisms contributing to the onset of cognitive impairment in MS patients (Figure 22). I hypothesize that cognitive reserve would stabilize functional brain networks and delay the diminishing network efficiency, as illustrated with the dark red dotted line. LC alterations or other alterations of modulatory neurotransmitters in the CNS, on the other hand, could contribute to a faster network collapse, as illustrated by the pink line, and thus contribute to an earlier onset of cognitive impairment in these patients.

8. Future perspectives

This thesis includes baseline and one-year follow-up data of a cohort of early MS patients. Longitudinal studies, at least with small drop-out rates, are valuable in studying the disease evolution. This study, with its well-defined population and large data collection at baseline, may provide a valuable basis for a long-term assessment of cognition, disease activity and MRI changes in RRMS patients. Such studies could lead to a better understanding of the associations between cognition, brain structure and functional brain changes in MS and improve future treatment of this patient group.

We identified very little cognitive difficulties in our patient sample. However, the tests included here only covered some of the cognitive domains possibly affected in MS. Future studies could utilize other data from this cohort study, not yet analyzed, to study subtle cognitive impairments in these patients in more detail. In particular, analyses of continuous performance tests (Anti-saccade test and Attention Network Test), designed to identify minute differences between groups could elaborate on brainstem involvement and aspects of attention impairments.

Whether GM or WM changes are the first to appear in MS is still unknown. This could be studied in order to understand the first events initializing the disease. It would therefore be interesting to further characterize the gray matter changes of these patients, and contribute to identify new methods evaluating GM changes in early MS.

Through the work on this thesis I have I have realized that proper prevalence and incidence studies of cognitive impairments in MS populations are still scarce. Studies of the magnitude of this problem are still warranted.

Further, this study has taught me a great deal about performing an observational study. It has inspired me to wish for a more comprehensive data collection of MS patients in Oslo, in Norway and internationally. Large collaborations with good inclusion rates may contribute to unveil associations between risk factors,

like genetic susceptibility and environmental exposures, clinical and structural changes in MS.

At last, future research should ask new research questions. We could perhaps amend the pathological processes seen in MS by enhancing the reparative strategies of the CNS, e.g. by inducing remyelination in demyelinating lesions. Emerging research holds promise of new treatment strategies with the ambition not only to slow the disease development, but also to improve future function in MS patients.

The next decades of MS research hopefully will lead to better understanding of who acquires the disease, why they acquire it, how we should treat them and how we can prevent others from acquiring this devastating neurological disease.

9. References

- Achiron a, Barak Y. Cognitive impairment in probable multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2003 Apr;74(4):443–6.
- Allen I V., McKeown SR. A histological, histochemical and biochemical study of the macroscopically normal white matter in multiple sclerosis. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 1979;41(1):81–91.
- Amato M, Ponziani G. Cognitive dysfunction in early-onset multiple sclerosis: a reappraisal after 10 years. Archives of neurology. 2001;58.
- Amato M, Ponziani G, Pracucci G. Cognitive impairment in early-onset multiple sclerosis: pattern, predictors, and impact on everyday life in a 4-year followup. Archives of neurology. 1995;
- Amato MP, Portaccio E, Goretti B, Zipoli V, Hakiki B, Giannini M, et al. Cognitive impairment in early stages of multiple sclerosis. Neurological sciences : official journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology. 2010 Nov;31(Suppl 2):S211–4.
- Amato MP, Razzolini L, Goretti B, Stromillo ML, Rossi F, Giorgio A, et al. Cognitive reserve and cortical atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. Neurology. 2013 May 7;80(19):1728–33.
- Amato MP, Zipoli V, Goretti B, Portaccio E, De Caro MF, Ricchiuti L, et al. Benign multiple sclerosis: Cognitive, psychological and social aspects in a clinical cohort. Journal of Neurology. 2006;253(8):1054–9.
- Ascherio A. Environmental factors in multiple sclerosis. Expert review of neurotherapeutics. 2013;12s(3):3–9.
- Audoin B, Ibarrola D, Ranjeva JP, Confort-Gouny S, Malikova I, Ali-Chérif A, et al. Compensatory cortical activation observed by fMRI during a cognitive task at the earliest stage of MS. Human Brain Mapping. 2003;20(February):51–8.
- Bakshi R. Fatigue associated with multiple sclerosis: diagnosis, impact and management. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2003 Jun;9(3):219–27.

- Bakshi R, Czarnecki D, Shaikh Z a, Priore RL, Janardhan V, Kaliszky Z, et al. Brain MRI lesions and atrophy are related to depression in multiple sclerosis. Neuroreport. 2000a Apr 27;11(6):1153–8.
- Bakshi R, Miletich RS, Henschel K, Shaikh ZA, Janardhan V, Wasay M, et al. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis: cross-sectional correlation with brain MRI findings in 71 patients. Neurology. 1999;53(5):1151–3.
- Bakshi R, Shaikh ZA, Miletich RS, Czarnecki D, Dmochowski J, Henschel K, et al. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis and its relationship to depression and neurologic disability. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2000b Jun;6(3):181–5.
- Balcer LJ, Miller DH, Reingold SC, Cohen Ja. Vision and vision-related outcome measures in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2014;138(1):11–27.
- Barkhof F. The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. Current opinion in neurology. 2002;15:239–45.
- Barkhof F, Bruck W, De Groot CJA, Bergers E, Hulshof S, Geurts J, et al. Remyelinated lesions in multiple sclerosis: magnetic resonance image appearance. Archives of neurology. 2003;60(8):1073–81.
- Battaglini M, Jenkinson M, De Stefano N. Evaluating and reducing the impact of white matter lesions on brain volume measurements. Human Brain Mapping. 2012;33(9):2062–71.
- Beatty J. Task-evoked pupillary responses, processing load, and the structure of processing resources. Psychological bulletin. 1982;91(2):276–92.
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory -II. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation; 1996.
- Beck RW, Cleary PA, Anderson MM, Keltner JL, Shults WT, Kaufman DI, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of corticosteroids in the treatment of acute optic neuritis. New England Journal of Medicine. 1992;326(9):581–8.
- Beiske AG, Svensson E, Sandanger I, Czujko B, Pedersen ED, Aarseth JH, et al. Depression and anxiety amongst multiple sclerosis patients. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2008;15(3):239–45.

- Belbasis L, Bellou V, Evangelou E, Ioannidis JP a, Tzoulaki I. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis : an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. The Lancet Global Health. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;4422(14):1–11.
- Bendfeldt K, Blumhagen JO, Egger H, Loetscher P, Denier N, Kuster P, et al. Spatiotemporal distribution pattern of white matter lesion volumes and their association with regional grey matter volume reductions in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. Human Brain Mapping. 2010;31(10):1542–55.
- Benedict R, Amato MP, Boringa J, Brochet B, Foley F, Fredrikson S, et al. Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS (BICAMS): international standards for validation. BMC neurology. 2012a Jul 16;12(1):55.
- Benedict RHB, Cookfair D, Gavett R, Gunther M, Munschauer F, Garg N, et al. Validity of the minimal assessment of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis (MACFIMS). Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS. 2006 Jul;12(4):549–58.
- Benedict RHB, Fischer JS, Archibald CJ, Arnett P a, Beatty WW, Bobholz J, et al. Minimal neuropsychological assessment of MS patients: a consensus approach. The Clinical neuropsychologist. 2002;16(3):381–97.
- Benedict RHB, Fishman I, McClellan MM, Bakshi R, Weinstock-Guttman B.
 Validity of the Beck Depression Inventory-Fast Screen in multiple sclerosis.
 Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2003;9(4):393–6.
- Benedict RHB, Morrow S a, Weinstock Guttman B, Cookfair D, Schretlen DJ. Cognitive reserve moderates decline in information processing speed in multiple sclerosis patients. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS. 2010 Sep;16(5):829–35.
- Benedict RHB, Smerbeck A, Parikh R, Rodgers J, Cadavid D, Erlanger D. Reliability and equivalence of alternate forms for the Symbol Digit Modalities Test: implications for multiple sclerosis clinical trials. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2012b Sep;18(9):1320–5.
- Benedict RHB, Weinstock-guttman B, Fishman I. Prediction of Neuropsychological Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis. Archives of neurology. 2004;61:226–30.

- Berer K, Mues M, Koutrolos M, Rasbi Z Al, Boziki M, Johner C, et al. Commensal microbiota and myelin autoantigen cooperate to trigger autoimmune demyelination. Nature. Nature Publishing Group; 2011 Nov 24;479(7374):538–41.
- Berg-Hansen P, Moen S, Harbo H, Celius E. High prevalence and no latitude gradient of multiple sclerosis in Norway. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014a;.
- Berg-Hansen P, Moen SM, Sandvik L, Harbo HF, Bakken IJ, Stoltenberg C, et al. Prevalence of multiple sclerosis among immigrants in Norway. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014b Oct 24;1–8.
- Berg-Hansen P, Smestad C, Sandvik L, Harbo HF, Celius EG. Increased disease severity in non-Western immigrants with multiple sclerosis in Oslo, Norway.
 European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2013 Dec;20(12):1546–52.
- Bergsland N, Lagana MM, Tavazzi E, Caffini M, Tortorella P, Baglio F, et al. Corticospinal tract integrity is related to primary motor cortex thinning in relapsing-remitting multiple sclesis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015;1–10.
- Bermel R a., You X, Foulds P, Hyde R, Simon JH, Fisher E, et al. Predictors of longterm outcome in multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon beta. Annals of Neurology. 2013;73:95–103.
- Berne-Fromell K, Fromell H, Lundkvist S, Lundkvist P. Is multiple sclerosis the equivalent of Parkinson's disease for noradrenaline? Medical hypotheses. 1987;23(4):409–15.
- Bevan C, Cree BAC. Disease Activity Free Status A New End Point for a New Era in Multiple Sclerosis Clinical Research ? JAMA neurology. 2014;
- Bosca I, Coret F, Valero C, Pascual AM, Magraner MJ, Landete L, et al. Effect of relapses over early progression of disability in multiple sclerosis patients treated with beta-interferon. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2008.
- Bosnes O. Norsk versjon av Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence : Hvor godt er samsvaret mellom WASI og norsk versjon av Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III ? Tidsskrift for norsk psykologiforening. 2009;(46):564– 8.

- Brager-Larsen L. WASI (Wechsler Abbre- viated Scale of Intelligence): En norsk over- settelse. Hovedoppgave, Psykologisk Institutt, Universitetet i Oslo; 2001.
- Briken S, Gold SM, Patra S, Vettorazzi E, Harbs D, Tallner a, et al. Effects of exercise on fitness and cognition in progressive MS: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014;20(3):382–90.
- Brochet B, Deloire MS a, Bonnet M, Salort-Campana E, Ouallet JC, Petry KG, et al. Should SDMT substitute for PASAT in MSFC? A 5-year longitudinal study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2008;14(9):1242–9.
- Brownell B, Hughes JT. The distribution of plaques in the cerebrum in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 1962;25(4):315–20.
- Burman J, lacobaeus E, Svenningsson A, Lycke J, Gunnarsson M, Nilsson P, et al. Autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for aggressive multiple sclerosis: the Swedish experience. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2014;1116–21.
- Burt RK, Balabanov R, Han X, Sharrack B, Morgan A, Quigley K, et al. Association of Nonmyeloablative Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation With Neurological Disability in Patients With Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis. 2015;313(3):275–84.
- Bø L. The histopathology of grey matter demyelination in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurologica Scandinavica. 2009 Jan;120(28):51–7.
- Bö L, Geurts JJG, van der Valk P, Polman C, Barkhof F. Lack of correlation between cortical demyelination and white matter pathologic changes in multiple sclerosis. Archives of neurology. 2007;64(1):76–80.
- Bø L, Vedeler C a, Nyland HI, Trapp BD, Mørk SJ. Subpial demyelination in the cerebral cortex of multiple sclerosis patients. Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology. 2003;62(7):723–32.
- Calabrese M, Magliozzi R, Ciccarelli O, Geurts JJG, Reynolds R, Martin R. Exploring the origins of grey matter damage in multiple sclerosis. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. Nature Publishing Group; 2015;16(3):147–58.

- Calabrese M, Poretto V, Favaretto A, Alessio S, Bernardi V, Romualdi C, et al. Cortical lesion load associates with progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2012;135(10):2952–61.
- Calabrese M, Rinaldi F, Grossi P, Mattisi I, Bernardi V, Favaretto A, et al. Basal ganglia and frontal/parietal cortical atrophy is associated with fatigue in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010a Oct;16(10):1220–8.
- Calabrese M, Rinaldi F, Mattisi I, Grossi P, Favaretto a, Atzori M, et al. Widespread cortical thinning characterizes patients with MS with mild cognitive impairment. Neurology. 2010b Jan 26;74(4):321–8.
- Calabrese M, Romualdi C, Poretto V, Favaretto A, Morra A, Rinaldi F, et al. The changing clinical course of multiple sclerosis: A matter of grey matter. Annals of neurology. 2013 Mar 12;
- Cappellani R, Bergsland N, Weinstock-Guttman B, Kennedy C, Carl E, Ramasamy DP, et al. Subcortical deep gray matter pathology in patients with multiple sclerosis is associated with white matter lesion burden and atrophy but not with cortical atrophy: a diffusion tensor MRI study. AJNR American journal of neuroradiology. 2014 May;35(5):912–9.
- Carswell R. Pathological anatomy: Illustrations of the elementary forms of disease. London: Longman, Orme, Brown, Green, and Longman. Paternoster Row.; 1838.
- Ceccarelli A, Rocca M a, Pagani E, Colombo B, Martinelli V, Comi G, et al. A voxelbased morphometry study of grey matter loss in MS patients with different clinical phenotypes. NeuroImage. 2008 Aug 1;42(1):315–22.
- Charcot J-M. Histologie de la sclerose en plaques. Paris: Gaz Hospital; 1868.
- Chard DT, Griffin CM, Parker GJM, Kapoor R, Thompson AJ, Miller DH. Brain atrophy in clinically early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2002;125(Pt 2):327–37.
- Chwastiak L, Ehde DM, Gibbons LE, Sullivan M, Bowen JD, Kraft GH. Depressive symptoms and severity of illness in multiple sclerosis: epidemiologic study of a large community sample. The American journal of psychiatry. 2002;159(11):1862–8.

Clanet M. Jean-Martin Charcot 1825-1893. International MS Journal. 2008;15(2):59–61.

- Codella M, Rocca M a., Colombo B, Martinelli-Boneschi F, Comi G, Filippi M. Cerebral grey matter pathology and fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis: A preliminary study. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 2002;194:71–4.
- Cohen J a, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung H-P, Khatri BO, Montalban X, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;362:402–15.
- Cohen J a, Reingold SC, Polman CH, Wolinsky JS. Disability outcome measures in multiple sclerosis clinical trials: current status and future prospects. Lancet neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 May;11(5):467–76.
- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2008 Oct 25;372(9648):1502–17.
- Confavreux C, Vukusic S. Natural history of multiple sclerosis: A unifying concept. Brain. 2006;129(3):606–16.
- Cortez MM, Nagi Reddy SK, Goodman B, Carter JL, Wingerchuk DM. Autonomic symptom burden is associated with MS-related fatigue and quality of life. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. Elsevier; 2015;4(3):258–63.
- Covey T, Zivadinov R. Information processing speed, neural efficiency, and working memory performance in multiple sclerosis: differential relationships with structural magnetic resonance. Journal of Clinical and 2011;(October 2012):37–41.
- Cree B a C, Khan O, Bourdette D, Goodin DS, Cohen J a, Marrie R a, et al. Clinical characteristics of African Americans vs Caucasian Americans with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2004;63(11):2039–45.

Cruvhelhier. Anatomie pathologique du corps humane. Paris: Bailliere; 1842.

Cutter GR, Baier ML, Rudick R a, Cookfair DL, Fischer JS, Petkau J, et al.
 Development of a multiple sclerosis functional composite as a clinical trial outcome measure. Brain : a journal of neurology. 1999 May;122 (Pt 5:871–82.

- Damangir S, Manzouri A, Oppedal K, Carlsson S, Firbank MJ, Sonnesyn H, et al. Multispectral MRI segmentation of age related white matter changes using a cascade of support vector machines. Journal of the neurological sciences. Elsevier B.V.; 2012 Nov 15;322(1-2):211–6.
- Degenhardt A, Ramagopalan S V, Scalfari A, Ebers GC. Clinical prognostic factors in multiple sclerosis: a natural history review. Nature reviews Neurology. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 Dec;5(12):672–82.
- Delis DC, Kramer JH, Kaplan E, Ober BA. California Verbal Learning Test second edition. Adult version. Manual. Test. 2000.
- DeLuca J, Chelune GJ, Tulsky DS, Lengenfelder J, Chiaravalloti ND. Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology. 2004;26(4):550–62.
- Demaree H a, DeLuca J, Gaudino E a, Diamond BJ. Speed of information processing as a key deficit in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 1999 Nov;67(5):661–3.
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nature reviews Immunology. 2015 Aug 7;15(9):545–58.
- Denney DR, Lynch SG. The impact of multiple sclerosis on patients' performance on the Stroop Test: processing speed versus interference. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS. 2009 May;15(3):451–8.
- Deppe M, Marinell J, Krämer J, Duning T, Ruck T, Simon OJ, et al. Increased cortical curvature reflects white matter atrophy in individual patients with early multiple sclerosis. NeuroImage: Clinical. The Authors; 2014;6:475–87.
- Dickerson BC, Feczko E, Augustinack JC, Pacheco J, Morris JC, Fischl B, et al. Differential effects of aging and Alzheimer's disease on medial temporal lobe cortical thickness and surface area. Neurobiology of aging. 2009 Mar;30(3):432–40.
- Dickerson BC, Fenstermacher E, Salat DH, Wolk DA, Maguire RP, Desikan R, et al. Detection of cortical thickness correlates of cognitive performance: Reliability across MRI scan sessions, scanners, and field strengths. NeuroImage. 2008;39(1):10–8.

- Dineen RA, Vilisaar J, Hlinka J, Bradshaw CM, Morgan PS, Constantinescu CS, et al. Disconnection as a mechanism for cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2009;132(Pt 1):239–49.
- Dobryakova E, Genova HM, DeLuca J, Wylie GR. The Dopamine Imbalance Hypothesis of Fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Neurological Disorders. Frontiers in Neurology. 2015;6(March):1–8.
- Drake a S, Weinstock-Guttman B, Morrow S a, Hojnacki D, Munschauer FE, Benedict RHB. Psychometrics and normative data for the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite: replacing the PASAT with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010 Feb;16(2):228–37.
- Dusankova JB, Kalincik T, Havrdova E, Benedict RHB. Cross cultural validation of the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in Multiple Sclerosis (MACFIMS) and the Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS). The Clinical neuropsychologist. 2012 Jan;26(7):1186– 200.
- Dutta R, Trapp BD. Pathogenesis of axonal and neuronal damage in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2007;68(22 SUPPL. 3).
- Egg R, Högl B, Glatzl S, Beer R, Berger T. Autonomic instability, as measured by pupillary unrest, is not associated with multiple sclerosis fatigue severity. Multiple Sclerosis. 2002 May 1;8(3):256–60.
- Einarsson U, Gottberg K, von Koch L, Fredrikson S, Ytterberg C, Jin Y-P, et al. Cognitive and motor function in people with multiple sclerosis in Stockholm County. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2006;12(3):340–53.
- Emmons RA, McCullough ME. Counting blessings versus burdens: an experimental investigation of gratitude and subjective well-being in daily life. Journal of personality and social psychology. 2003.
- Engell T. A clinico-pathoanatomical study of multiple sclerosis diagnosis. Acta neurologica Scandinavica. 1988;78(1):39–44.
- Engström M, Flensner G, Landtblom A-M, Ek A-C, Karlsson T. Thalamo-striatocortical determinants to fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Brain and behavior. 2013 Nov;3(6):715–28.

- Eshaghi A, Riyahi-Alam S, Roostaei T, Haeri G, Aghsaei A, Aidi MR, et al. Validity and reliability of a Persian translation of the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in Multiple Sclerosis (MACFIMS). The Clinical neuropsychologist. 2012;26(6):975–84.
- Farez MF, Quintana FJ, Correale J. Sodium intake is associated with increased disease activity in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86:26–31.
- Feinstein A, Freeman J, Lo AC. Treatment of progressive multiple sclerosis: what works, what does not, and what is needed. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;14(2):194–207.
- Feinstein A, Magalhaes S, Richard J-F, Audet B, Moore C. The link between multiple sclerosis and depression. Nature reviews Neurology. Nature Publishing Group; 2014 Aug 12;10(9):507–17.
- Feinstein A, Roy P, Lobaugh N, Feinstein K, O'Connor P, Black S. Structural brain abnormalities in multiple sclerosis patients with major depression. Neurology. 2004;62(4):586–90.
- Ferris FL, Kassoff a, Bresnick GH, Bailey I. New visual acuity charts for clinical research. American journal of ophthalmology. 1982;94(1):91–6.
- Feuillet L, Reuter F, Audoin B, Malikova I, Barrau K, Cherif a a., et al. Early cognitive impairment in patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis. 2007 Jan 1;13(1):124–7.
- Fielding J, Kilpatrick T, Millist L, White O. Control of visually guided saccades in multiple sclerosis: Disruption to higher-order processes. Neuropsychologia. 2009 Jun;47(7):1647–53.
- Filippi M, Preziosa P, Copetti M, Riccitelli G, Horsfield MA, Martinelli V, et al. Gray matter damage predicts the accumulation of disability 13 years later in MS. Neurology. 2013a;81(20):1759–67.
- Filippi M, Preziosa P, Rocca M a. Magnetic resonance outcome measures in multiple sclerosis trials: time to rethink? Current opinion in neurology. 2014 Jun;27(3):290–9.
- Filippi M, Rocca M a. Multiple sclerosis: new measures to monitor the disease. Lancet neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2013 Jan;12(1):12–3.

- Filippi M, Rocca M a, Barkhof F, Brück W, Chen JT, Comi G, et al. Association between pathological and MRI findings in multiple sclerosis. Lancet neurology. 2012 Apr;11(4):349–60.
- Filippi M, Rocca M a, Colombo B, Falini a, Codella M, Scotti G, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging correlates of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. NeuroImage. 2002;15:559–67.
- Filippi M, Rocca M a, Horsfield M a, Hametner S, Geurts JJG, Comi G, et al. Imaging Cortical Damage and Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis. JAMA neurology. 2013b Mar 4;70(5):1–9.
- Fischl B. FreeSurfer. NeuroImage. 2012. p. 774–81.
- Fischl B. FreeSurfer : Troubleshooting Hard and Soft Failures. Freesurfer course Copenhagen. 2014.
- Fischl B, Dale AM. Measuring the thickness of the human cerebral cortex from magnetic resonance images. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(20):11050–5.
- Fischl B, Sereno MI, Dale AM. Cortical surface-based analysis. II: Inflation, flattening, and a surface-based coordinate system. NeuroImage. 1999a Feb;9(2):195–207.
- Fischl B, Sereno MI, Dale AM. Cortical Surface-Based Analysis: I. Segmentation and Surface Reconstruction. 1999b;207:195–207.
- Fisher E, Lee JC, Nakamura K, Rudick RA. Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal study. Annals of Neurology. 2008;64(3):255–65.
- Forn C, Barros-Loscertales a., Escudero J, Belloch V, Campos S, Parcet M a., et al. Cortical reorganization during PASAT task in MS patients with preserved working memory functions. NeuroImage. 2006;31:686–91.
- Forn C, Belenguer A, Parcet-Ibars MA, Avila C. Information-processing speed is the primary deficit underlying the poor performance of multiple sclerosis patients in the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT). Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology. 2008 Oct;30(7):789–96.
- Franklin RJM, Ffrench-Constant C. Remyelination in the CNS: from biology to therapy. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2008;9(11):839–55.

- Frohman E, Frohman T, Zee D. The neuro-ophthalmology of multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. 2005 Oct;16(5 Multiple Sclerosis):122–46.
- Galea I, Ward-Abel N, Heesen C. Relapse in multiple sclerosis. Bmj. 2015;350(apr14 8):h1765–h1765.
- Genova HM, Rajagopalan V, DeLuca J, Das A, Binder A, Arjunan A, et al. Examination of cognitive fatigue in multiple sclerosis using functional magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(11):1–10.
- Geurts JJ, Calabrese M, Fisher E, Rudick RA. Measurement and clinical effect of grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. Lancet neurology. 2012 Dec;11(12):1082–92.
- Giorgio A, Stromillo ML, Bartolozzi ML, Rossi F, Battaglini M, De Leucio A, et al. Relevance of hypointense brain MRI lesions for long-term worsening of clinical disability in relapsing multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2013 Jul 22;
- Giorgio A, Stromillo ML, Rossi F, Battaglini M, Hakiki B, Portaccio E, et al. Cortical lesions in radiologically isolated syndrome. Neurology. 2011;77(21):1896–9.
- Giovannoni G, Cook S, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Sørensen PS, Vermersch P, et al. Sustained disease-activity-free status in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis treated with cladribine tablets in the CLARITY study: a post-hoc and subgroup analysis. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2011 Apr;10(4):329–37.
- Giovannoni G, Turner B, Gnanapavan S, Offiah C, Schmierer K, Marta M. Is it time to target No evident disease activity (NEDA) in multiple sclerosis? Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. Elsevier; 2015;
- Glad SB, Nyland H, Aarseth JH, Riise T, Myhr K-M. How long can you keep working with benign multiple sclerosis? Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2011 Jan;82(1):78–82.
- Gobbi C, Rocca MA, Riccitelli G, Pagani E, Messina R, Preziosa P, et al. Influence of the topography of brain damage on depression and fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014 Feb;20(2):192–201.

- Goldschmidt T, Antel J, König FB, Brück W, Kuhlmann T. Remyelination capacity of the MS brain decreases with disease chronicity. Neurology. 2009;72(22):1914–21.
- Goodin DS, Traboulsee a., Knappertz V, Reder a. T, Li D, Langdon D, et al. Relationship between early clinical characteristics and long term disability outcomes: 16 year cohort study (follow-up) of the pivotal interferon -1b trial in multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 2012;83:282–7.
- Goretti B, Niccolai C, Hakiki B, Sturchio A, Falautano M, Minacapelli E, et al. The brief international cognitive assessment for multiple sclerosis (BICAMS): normative values with gender, age and education corrections in the Italian population. BMC Neurology. 2014;14(1):1–6.
- Gorgoraptis N, Wheeler-Kingshott C a M, Jenkins TM, Altmann DR, Miller DH, Thompson AJ, et al. Combining tractography and cortical measures to test system-specific hypotheses in multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010 May;16(5):555–65.
- Goris a., Pauwels I, Gustavsen MW, van Son B, Hilven K, Bos SD, et al. Genetic variants are major determinants of CSF antibody levels in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2015;138(3):632–43.
- Grasso MG, Troisi E, Rizzi F, Morelli D, Paolucci S. Prognostic factors in multidisciplinary rehabilitation treatment in multiple sclerosis: an outcome study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2005;11(6):719–24.
- Graves J, Balcer LJ. Eye disorders in patients with multiple sclerosis: natural history and management. Clinical ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ). 2010;4:1409–22.
- Gronwall DM a. Paced Auditory Serial-Addition Task: A Measure of Recovery from Concussion. Perceptual and Motor Skills. 1977;44(1974):367–73.
- Grønlie S a, Myrvoll E, Hansen G, Grønning M, Mellgren SI. Multiple sclerosis in North Norway, and first appearance in an indigenous population. Journal of neurology. 2000;247(2):129–33.
- Haacke EM, Brown RW, Thompson MR, Venkatesan R. Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 1st edisio. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1999.

- Haensch C-A, Jörg J. Autonomic dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology. 2006 Feb;253 Suppl :13–9.
- Han X, Han X, Jovicich J, Jovicich J, Salat D, Salat D, et al. Reliability of MRIderived measurements of human cerebral cortical thickness: the effects of field strength, scanner upgrade and manufacturer. Neuroimage. 2006. p. 180–94.
- Hanken K, Eling P, Hildebrandt H. Is there a cognitive signature for MS-related fatigue? Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014;1–6.
- Harbo HF, Isobe N, Berg-Hansen P, Bos SD, Caillier SJ, Gustavsen MW, et al.
 Oligoclonal bands and age at onset correlate with genetic risk score in multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England).
 2013;
- Harbo HF, Utsi E, Lorentzen ÅR, Kampman MT, Celius EG, Myhr KM, et al. Low frequency of the disease-associated DRB1*15-DQB1*06 haplotype may contribute to the low prevalence of multiple sclerosis in Sami. Tissue Antigens. 2007;69(4):299–304.
- Hartung H-P, Aktas O, Boyko a. N. Alemtuzumab: A new therapy for active relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014;21(Figure 1):22–34.
- Havrdova E, Galetta S, Hutchinson M, Stefoski D, Bates D, Polman CH, et al. Effect of natalizumab on clinical and radiological disease activity in multiple sclerosis: a retrospective analysis of the Natalizumab Safety and Efficacy in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis (AFFIRM) study. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2009 Mar;8(3):254–60.
- Hedström AK, Lima Bomfim I, Barcellos L, Gianfrancesco M, Schaefer C, Kockum I, et al. Interaction between adolescent obesity and HLA risk genes in the etiology of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2014 Mar 11;82(10):865–72.
- Hedström AK, Sundqvist E, Bäärnhielm M, Nordin N, Hillert J, Kockum I, et al. Smoking and two human leukocyte antigen genes interact to increase the risk for multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2011;134(3):653–64.
- Heesen C, Böhm J, Reich C, Kasper J, Goebel M, Gold SM. Patient perception of bodily functions in multiple sclerosis: gait and visual function are the most

valuable. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2008;14(7):988–91.

- Hemmer B, Kerschensteiner M, Korn T. Role of the innate and adaptive immune responses in the course of multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;14(4):406–19.
- Henry RG, Shieh M, Okuda DT, Evangelista A, Gorno-Tempini ML, Pelletier D. Regional grey matter atrophy in clinically isolated syndromes at presentation. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2008;79(11):1236–44.
- Hess EH, Polt JM. Pupil Size in Relation to Mental Activity during Simple Problem-Solving. Science. 1964;143(3611):1190–2.
- Hier DB, Wang J. Reduced cortical surface area in multiple sclerosis. Neurological research. 2007 Apr;29(3):231–2.
- Holmøy T. A norse contribution to the history of neurological diseases. European Neurology. 2006;55(1):57–8.
- Honarmand K, Feinstein A. Validation of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale for use with multiple sclerosis patients. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2009;15(12):1518–24.
- Howell OW, Reeves C a., Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2011;134(9):2755–71.
- Http://www.msif.org/about-us/advocacy/atlas/. Atlas of MS.
- Hubacher M, Kappos L, Weier K, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Penner I-K. Case-Based fMRI Analysis after Cognitive Rehabilitation in MS: A Novel Approach. Frontiers in Neurology. 2015;6(April):1–8.
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Analysis of immunerelated loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. Nature Genetics. 2013;45(11).
- De Jager PL, Chibnik LB, Cui J, Reischl J, Lehr S, Simon KC, et al. Integration of genetic risk factors into a clinical algorithm for multiple sclerosis

susceptibility: a weighted genetic risk score. Lancet neurology. 2009 Dec;8(12):1111–9.

- Jersild C, Svejgaard A, Fog T. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. The lancet. 1972;1240–1.
- Johansson S, Ytterberg C, Hillert J, Widén Holmqvist L, von Koch L. A longitudinal study of variations in and predictors of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2008;79(4):454–7.
- Johnson KP. Glatiramer acetate for treatment of relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis. Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics. 2012;12(4):371–84.
- Jubault T, Gagnon J-F, Karama S, Ptito A, Lafontaine A-L, Evans AC, et al. Patterns of cortical thickness and surface area in early Parkinson's disease. NeuroImage. Elsevier Inc.; 2011 Mar 15;55(2):462–7.
- Kanda T, Fukusato T, Matsuda M, Toyoda K, Oba H, Kotoku J, et al. Gadoliniumbased Contrast Agent Accumulates in the Brain Even in Subjects without Severe Renal Dysfunction : Evaluation of Autopsy Brain Specimens with Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectroscopy. Radiology. 2015;000(0):1–5.
- Kappos L, Freedman MS, Polman CH, Edan G, Hartung H-P, Miller DH, et al. Longterm effect of early treatment with interferon beta-1b after a first clinical event suggestive of multiple sclerosis: 5-year active treatment extension of the phase 3 BENEFIT trial. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2009 Nov;8(11):987–97.
- Kappos L, Radue E-W, O'Connor P, Polman C, Hohlfeld R, Calabresi P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2010.
- Kingwell E, van der Kop M, Zhao Y, Shirani a., Zhu F, Oger J, et al. Relative mortality and survival in multiple sclerosis: findings from British Columbia, Canada. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 2012;83(1):61–6.
- Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC. Essential Medical Statistics. 2nd editio. Malden, Massachussetts, USA: Blackwell Science Ltd; 2003.
- Kister I, Chamot E, Bacon JH, Niewczyk PM, De Guzman R a., Apatoff B, et al. Rapid disease course in African Americans with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;75(3):217–23.

- Kleinewietfeld M, Manzel A, Titze J, Kvakan H. Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH17 cells. Nature. 2013;496(7446):518–22.
- Kluger BM, Krupp LB, Enoka RM. Fatigue and fatigability in neurologic illnesses: proposal for a unified taxonomy. Neurology. 2013 Jan 22;80(4):409–16.
- Kobelt G, Berg J, Lindgren P, Fredrikson S, Jönsson B. Costs and quality of life of patients with multiple sclerosis in Europe. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(8):918–26.
- Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen PS. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2010;9(5):520–32.
- Kolasinski J, Stagg CJ, Chance S a, Deluca GC, Esiri MM, Chang E-H, et al. A combined post-mortem magnetic resonance imaging and quantitative histological study of multiple sclerosis pathology. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2012 Oct;135(Pt 10):2938–51.
- Krupp LB. Multiple sclerosis-associated fatigue. Expert review of neurotherapeutics. 2010;10(9):1437–47.
- Krupp LB, Alvarez L a, LaRocca NG, Scheinberg LC. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Archives of neurology. 1988;45:435–7.
- Krupp LB, LaRocca NG, Muir-Nash J, Steinberg AD. The fatigue severity scale. Application to patients with multiple sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Archives of neurology. 1989 Oct;46(10):1121–3.
- Kuhle J, Disanto G, Dobson R, Adiutori R, Bianchi L, Topping J, et al. Conversion from clinically isolated syndrome to multiple sclerosis: A large multicentre study. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015;
- Kuperberg GR, Broome MR, McGuire PK, David AS, Eddy M, Ozawa F, et al. Regionally localized thinning of the cerebral cortex in schizophrenia. Archives of general psychiatry. 2003;60(9):878–88.
- Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology. 1983 Nov;33(11):1444–52.

- Kutzelnigg A, Lassmann H. Cortical lesions and brain atrophy in MS. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2005 Jun 15;233(1-2):55–9.
- Kutzelnigg A, Lassmann H. Pathology of multiple sclerosis and related inflammatory demyelinating diseases. 1st ed. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Elsevier B.V.; 2014.
- Kutzelnigg A, Lucchinetti CF, Stadelmann C, Brück W, Rauschka H, Bergmann M, et al. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2005 Nov;128(Pt 11):2705–12.
- Laake P, Hjartåker A. Epidemiologiske og kliniske forskningsmetoder. 1. edition. Oslo, Norway: Gyldendal Akademisk; 2007.
- Laake P, Olsen BR, Benestad HB. Forskning i medisin og biofag. 2. edition. Oslo, Norway: Gyldendal Akademisk; 2008.
- Laeng B, Sirois S, Gredeback G. Pupillometry: A Window to the Preconscious? Perspectives on Psychological Science. 2012 Jan 5;7(1):18–27.
- Landrø N, Celius E, Sletvold H. Depressive symptoms account for deficient information processing speed but not for impaired working memory in early phase multiple sclerosis (MS). Journal of the neurological sciences. 2004;
- Langdon D, Amato M, Boringa J, Brochet B, Foley F, Fredrikson S, et al. Recommendations for a Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS). Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2011 Dec 21;
- Lebrun C, Blanc F, Brassat D, Zephir H, de Seze J. Cognitive function in radiologically isolated syndrome. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010;16(8):919–25.
- Lebrun C, Cohen M, Chaussenot A, Mondot L, Chanalet S. A Prospective Study of Patients with Brain MRI Showing Incidental T2 Hyperintensities Addressed as Multiple Sclerosis: a Lot of Work to do Before Treating. Neurology and Therapy. 2014;3(2):123–32.
- Lengenfelder J, Bryant D, Diamond BJ, Kalmar JH, Moore NB, DeLuca J. Processing speed interacts with working memory efficiency in multiple sclerosis. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology. 2006;21:229–38.

- Leocani L, Colombo B, Comi G. Physiopathology of fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurological Sciences. 2008;29(SUPPL. 2):241–3.
- Lerdal A, Wahl A, Rustøen T, Hanestad BR, Moum T. Fatigue in the general population: a translation and test of the psychometric properties of the Norwegian version of the fatigue severity scale. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2005;33(2):123–30.
- Llufriu S, Kornak J, Ratiney H, Oh J, Brenneman D, Cree B a, et al. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy markers of disease progression in multiple sclerosis. JAMA neurology. 2014 Jul 1;71(7):840–7.
- Lublin F, Cofield S, Cutter G, Conwit R, Narayana P, Nelson F, et al. Randomized study combining interferon and glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis. Annals of neurology. 2013;73(3):327–40.
- Lublin FD, Baier M, Cutter G. Effect of relapses on development of residual deficit in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2003;61(11):1528–32.
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen J a, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology. 2014 Jul 15;83(3):278–86.
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Tiqwa P. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology. 1996 Apr;46(4):907–11.
- Lundervold AJ, Sundet K. CVLT–Norsk versjon. Sollentuna: Psykologiforlaget AB; 2004.
- Lüsebrink F, Wollrab A, Speck O. Cortical thickness determination of the human brain using high resolution 3T and 7T MRI data. NeuroImage. Elsevier Inc.; 2013 Apr 15;70:122–31.
- Di Maggio G, Santangelo R, Guerrieri S, Bianco M, Ferrari L, Medaglini S, et al. Optical coherence tomography and visual evoked potentials: which is more sensitive in multiple sclerosis? Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014 Mar 3;

- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Reeves C, Roncaroli F, Nicholas R, Serafini B, et al. A Gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology. 2010;68(4):477–93.
- Mahad DH, Trapp PBD, Lassmann PH. Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;14(2):183–93.
- Marrie R a., Reingold S, Cohen J, Stuve O, Trojano M, Sorensen PS, et al. The incidence and prevalence of psychiatric disorders in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015 Jan 12;1–13.
- Martins Da Silva a., Cavaco S, Moreira I, Bettencourt a., Santos E, Pinto C, et al. Cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis: Protective effects of education. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015;1312–21.
- McDonald WI, Compston A, Edan G, Goodkin D, Hartung HP, Lublin FD, et al. Recommended diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: guidelines from the International Panel on the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. Annals of neurology. 2001 Jul;50(1):121–7.
- McKay K a., Kwan V, Duggan T, Tremlett H. Risk Factors Associated with the Onset of Relapsing-Remitting and Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review. BioMed Research International. Hindawi Publishing Corporation; 2015;2015:1–11.
- Meda S a, Pryweller JR, Thornton-Wells T a. Regional brain differences in cortical thickness, surface area and subcortical volume in individuals with Williams syndrome. PloS one. 2012 Jan;7(2):e31913.
- Miller DM, Allen R. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: Determinants, measurement, and use in clinical practice. Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports. 2010;10(5):397–406.
- Miller DM, Weinstock-Guttman B, Béthoux F, Lee JC, Beck G, Block V, et al. A meta-analysis of methylprednisolone in recovery from multiple sclerosis exacerbations. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2000;6(4):267–73.
- Millidot. Dictionary of Optometry and Visual Science. 7th editio. Butterworth-Heinemann; 2009.

- Milo R, Kahana E. Multiple sclerosis: Geoepidemiology, genetics and the environment. Autoimmunity Reviews. Elsevier B.V.; 2010;9(5):A387–94.
- Minden SL, Feinstein A, Kalb RC, Miller D, Mohr DC, Patten SB. Evidence-based guideline : Assessment and management of psychiatric disorders in individuals with MS : Report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology Evidence-based guideline : Assessment and management of psychiatri. 2014;
- Minden SL, Frankel D, Hadden L, Perloffp J, Srinath KP, Hoaglin DC. The Sonya Slifka Longitudinal Multiple Sclerosis Study: methods and sample characteristics. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2006;12(1):24–38.
- Moccia M, Lanzillo R, Palladino R, Chang KC-M, Costabile T, Russo C, et al. Cognitive impairment at diagnosis predicts 10-year multiple sclerosis progression. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015;6–8.
- Munger KL, Chitnis T, Ascherio A. Body size and risk of MS in two cohorts of US women. Neurology. 2009 Nov 10;73(19):1543–50.
- Munger KL, Levin LI, Hollis BW, Howard NS, Ascherio A. Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D levels and risk of multiple sclerosis. Jama. 2006;296(23):2832–8.
- Munger KL, Zhang SM, O'Reilly E, Hernán M a, Olek MJ, Willett WC, et al. Vitamin D intake and incidence of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2004;62(1):60–5.
- Myhr K-M, Beiske AG, Celius EG, Edland A, Hovdal H, Lund C, et al. Nasjonale faglige retningslinjer for diagnostikk, attakk- og sykdomsmodifiserende behandling av multippel sklerose. Oslo, Norway; 2011.
- Myhr KM, Riise T, Vedeler C, Nortvedt MW, Grønning R, Midgard R, et al. Disability and prognosis in multiple sclerosis: demographic and clinical variables important for the ability to walk and awarding of disability pension. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2001;7(1):59–65.
- Naci H, Fleurence R, Birt J, Duhig A. Economic Burden of Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review of the Literature. 2010;28(5):363–79.

- Narayana P a, Govindarajan K a, Goel P, Datta S, Lincoln J a, Cofield SS, et al. Regional cortical thickness in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis: A multicenter study. NeuroImage Clinical. 2012 Jan;2:120–31.
- Nash R a., Hutton GJ, Racke MK, Popat U, Devine SM, Griffith LM, et al. High-Dose Immunosuppressive Therapy and Autologous Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation for Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis (HALT-MS). JAMA Neurology. 2015;72(2):159.
- Niepel G, Bibani RH, Vilisaar J, Langley RW, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E, et al. Association of a deficit of arousal with fatigue in multiple sclerosis: effect of modafinil. Neuropharmacology. 2013 Jan;64:380–8.
- Nortvedt MW, Riise T, Myhr K-M, Nyland HI. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: Measuring the disease effects more broadly. Neurology. 1999;53(5):1098– 103.
- Nygaard GO, Walhovd KB, Sowa P, Chepkoech J-L, Bjornerud a., Due-Tonnessen P, et al. Cortical thickness and surface area relate to specific symptoms in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014 Aug 19;
- Patrikios P, Stadelmann C, Kutzelnigg A, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, Laursen H, et al. Remyelination is extensive in a subset of multiple sclerosis patients. Brain. 2006;129(12):3165–72.
- Patten SB, Beck CA, Williams JVA, Barbui C, Metz LM. Major depression in multiple sclerosis: a population-based perspective. Neurology. 2003;61(11):1524–7.
- Patti F, Amato MP, Battaglia MA, Pitaro M, Russo P, Solaro C, et al. Caregiver quality of life in multiple sclerosis: a multicentre Italian study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2007;13(3):412–9.
- Paty DW, Li DKB, StudyGroup the UBCM, The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis StudyGroup. Interferon beta1b is effective in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1993;43(4):662.
- Pellicano C, Gallo A, Li X, Ikonomidou VN, Evangelou IE, Ohayon JM, et al. Relationship of cortical atrophy to fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis. Archives of neurology. 2010 Apr;67(4):447–53.

- Penner I-K, Opwis K, Kappos L. Relation between functional brain imaging, cognitive impairment and cognitive rehabilitation in patients with multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology. 2007;254 Suppl (2007):II53–I57.
- Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P. The Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2009 Dec;15(12):1509–17.
- Penner IK, Rausch M, Kappos L, Opwis K, Radü EW. Analysis of impairment related functional architecture in MS patients during performance of different attention tasks. Journal of Neurology. 2003;250(4):461–72.
- Pfleger CCH, Flachs EM, Koch-Henriksen N. Social consequences of multiple sclerosis (1): early pension and temporary unemployment--a historical prospective cohort study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010;16(1):121–6.
- Piehl F. A changing treatment landscape for multiple sclerosis: Challenges and opportunities. Journal of Internal Medicine. 2014;275(4):364–81.
- Polak PE, Kalinin S, Braun D, Sharp A, Lin SX, Feinstein DL. The vincamine derivative vindeburnol provides benefit in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis: Effects on the Locus coerules. Journal of Neurochemistry. 2012;121:206–16.
- Polak PE, Kalinin S, Feinstein DL. Locus coeruleus damage and noradrenaline reductions in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2011 Mar;134(Pt 3):665– 77.
- Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, Hutchinson M, Kappos L, Miller DH, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2006.
- Polman CH, Reingold SC, Banwell B, Clanet M, Cohen J a, Filippi M, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. Annals of neurology. 2011 Feb;69(2):292–302.
- Polman CH, Reingold SC, Edan G, Filippi M, Hartung H-P, Kappos L, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2005 revisions to the 'McDonald Criteria'. Annals of neurology. 2005 Dec;58(6):840–6.

- Popescu V, Agosta F, Hulst HE, Sluimer IC, Knol DL, Sormani MP, et al. Brain atrophy and lesion load predict long term disability in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2013 Mar 23;
- Popescu V, Klaver R, Voorn P, Galis-de Graaf Y, Knol D, Twisk J, et al. What drives MRI-measured cortical atrophy in multiple sclerosis? Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2015 Jan 12;1–11.
- Poser C, Paty D. New diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: guidelines for research protocols. Annals of neurology. 1983;227–31.
- Pujol J, Bello J, Deus J, Martí-Vilalta JL, Capdevila A. Lesions in the left arcuate fasciculus region and depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1997;49(4):1105–10.
- Puri BK, Bydder GM, Chaudhuri KR, Al Saffar BY, Curati WL, White SJ, et al. MRI changes in multiple sclerosis following treatment with lofepramine and L-phenylalanine. Neuroreport. 2001;12(9):1821–4.
- Rao SM, Leo GJ, Bernardin L, Unverzagt F. Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. I. Frequency, patterns, and prediction. Neurology. 1991 May;41(5):685–91.
- Rao SM, Leo GJ, Haughton VM, St Aubin-Faubert P, Bernardin L. Correlation of magnetic resonance imaging with neuropsychological testing in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1989;39(2 Pt 1):161–6.
- Reulen J, Sanders E, Hogenhuis L. Eye movement disorders in multiple sclerosis and optic neuritis. Brain. 1983;121–40.
- Reuter M, Rosas H, Fischl B. Highly accurate inverse consistent registration: a robust approach. Neuroimage. 2010;53(4):1181–96.
- Reuter M, Schmansky N, Rosas H, Fischl B. Within-subject template estimation for unbiased longitudinal image analysis. Neuroimage. 2012;61(4):1402–18.
- Riccitelli G, Rocca MA, Pagani E, Rodegher ME, Rossi P, Falini A, et al. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis is associated to different patterns of gray matter atrophy according to clinical phenotype. Human Brain Mapping. 2011;32(10):1535–43.
- Rietberg MB, van Wegen EEH, Kollen BJ, Kwakkel G. Do Patients With Multiple Sclerosis Show Different Daily Physical Activity Patterns From Healthy Individuals? Neurorehabilitation and neural repair. 2014 Feb 10;
- Rimol LM, Agartz I, Djurovic S, Brown A a, Roddey JC, Kähler AK, et al. Sexdependent association of common variants of microcephaly genes with brain structure. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010 Jan 5;107(1):384–8.
- Rinaldi F, Calabrese M, Seppi D, Puthenparampil M, Perini P, Gallo P. Natalizumab strongly suppresses cortical pathology in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2012 May 8;
- Rindfleisch E. Histologisehes Detail zu der grauen Degeneration von 6ehirn und Riiekenmark . (Zugleieh ein lleitrag zu der Lehre von der Entstehung und Verwandlung der Zelle .). Virkows Arch Pathol Physiol Pat Klin Med. 1863;474–84.
- Río J, Nos C, Tintoré M, Téllez N, Galán I, Pelayo R, et al. Defining the response to interferon-beta in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. Annals of neurology. 2006 Feb;59(2):344–52.
- Rocca M a, Parisi L, Pagani E, Copetti M, Rodegher M, Colombo B, et al. Regional but Not Global Brain Damage Contributes to Fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis. Radiology. 2014a;273(2):140417.
- Rocca M a., Colombo B, Falini A, Ghezzi A, Martinelli V, Scotti G, et al. Cortical adaptation in patients with MS: A cross-sectional functional MRI study of disease phenotypes. Lancet Neurology. 2005;4(October):618–26.
- Rocca M a., Mezzapesa DM, Falini A, Ghezzi A, Martinelli V, Scotti G, et al. Evidence for axonal pathology and adaptive cortical reorganization in patients at presentation with clinically isolated syndromes suggestive of multiple sclerosis. NeuroImage. 2003;18:847–55.
- Rocca MA, Amato MP, De Stefano N, Enzinger C, Geurts JJ, Penner I-K, et al. Clinical and imaging assessment of cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;14(3):302–17.

- Rocca MA, Valsasina P, Hulst HE, Abdel-Aziz K, Enzinger C, Gallo A, et al. Functional correlates of cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: A multicenter fMRI Study. Human brain mapping. 2014b Jul 18;00(February).
- Roosendaal SD, Schoonheim MM, Hulst HE, Sanz-Arigita EJ, Smith SM, Geurts JJG, et al. Resting state networks change in clinically isolated syndrome. Brain. 2010;133:1612–21.
- Rosas HD, Liu AK, Hersch S, Glessner M, Ferrante RJ, Salat DH, et al. Regional and progressive thinning of the cortical ribbon in Huntington's disease. Neurology. 2002;58(5):695–701.
- Rosti-Otajärvi EM, Hämäläinen PI. Neuropsychological rehabilitation for multiple sclerosis. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014;2(2):CD009131.
- Roth AK, Denney DR, Lynch SG. Information processing speed and attention in multiple sclerosis: Reconsidering the Attention Network Test (ANT). Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology. 2015;(May 2015):1–12.
- Rothman KJ. Epidemiology: an introduction. 2nd Editio. New York: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- Rotstein DL, Healy BC, Malik MT, Chitnis T, Weiner HL. Evaluation of No Evidence of Disease Activity in a 7-Year Longitudinal Multiple Sclerosis Cohort. JAMA neurology. 2014 Dec 22;02445:1–7.
- Rovira À, Wattjes MP, Tintoré M, Tur C, Yousry T a., Sormani MP, et al. Evidencebased guidelines: MAGNIMS consensus guidelines on the use of MRI in multiple sclerosis—clinical implementation in the diagnostic process. Nature Reviews Neurology. 2015;11(August).
- Rudick R a., Polman CH. Current approaches to the identification and management of breakthrough disease in patients with multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2009;8(6):545–59.
- Rudick R, Antel J, Confavreux C, Cutter G, Ellison G, Fischer J, et al. Recommendations from the National Multiple Sclerosis Society Clinical Outcomes Assessment Task Force. Annals of neurology. 1997 Sep;42(3):379–82.

- Sailer M, Fischl B, Salat D, Tempelmann C, Schönfeld MA, Busa E, et al. Focal thinning of the cerebral cortex in multiple sclerosis. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2003 Aug;126(Pt 8):1734–44.
- Sand T, Kvaløy MB, Wader T, Hovdal H. Evoked potential tests in clinical diagnosis. Tidsskrift for den Norske laegeforening : tidsskrift for praktisk medicin, ny raekke. 2013 May 7;133(9):960–5.
- Sawcer S, Franklin RJM, Ban M. Multiple sclerosis genetics. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;13(7):700–9.
- Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CCA, Patsopoulos NA, Moutsianas L, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature. 2011 Aug 11;476(7359):214–9.
- Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Daumer M, Muraro PA, Ebers GC. Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2014;85(1):67–75.
- Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Degenhardt A, Rice GP, Muraro PA, Daumer M, et al. The natural history of multiple sclerosis, a geographically based study 10: Relapses and long-term disability. Brain. 2010;133(7):1914–29.
- Van Schependom J, D'hooghe MB, Cleynhens K, D'hooge M, Haelewyck MC, De Keyser J, et al. The Symbol Digit Modalities Test as sentinel test for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. European Journal of Neurology. 2014a;21(9):1219–25.
- Van Schependom J, D'hooghe MBMB, Cleynhens K, D'hooge M, Haelewyck MCM-C, De Keyser J, et al. Reduced information processing speed as primum movens for cognitive decline in MS. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014b Jul 10;In press.
- Schinzel J, Zimmermann H, Paul F, Ruprecht K, Hahn K, Brandt AU, et al. Relations of low contrast visual acuity, quality of life and multiple sclerosis functional composite: a cross-sectional analysis. BMC neurology. 2014 Jan;14(1):31.
- Schoonheim MM, Meijer K a., Geurts JJG. Network Collapse and Cognitive Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis. Frontiers in Neurology. 2015;6(April):1–5.

- Schwartz CE, Ayandeh A, Ramanathan M, Benedict R, Dwyer MG, Weinstock-Guttman B, et al. Reserve-building activities in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy controls: a descriptive study. BMC Neurology. BMC Neurology; 2015;15(1):135.
- Shirani A, Zhao Y, Karim M, Evans C. Association between use of interferon beta and progression of disability in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Jama. 2012;
- Simonini MV, Polak PE, Sharp A, McGuire S, Galea E, Feinstein DL. Increasing CNS noradrenaline reduces EAE severity. Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology. 2010;5(2):252–9.
- Simpson S, Blizzard L, Otahal P, Van der Mei I, Taylor B. Latitude is significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2011 Oct;82(10):1132– 41.
- Smedal T, Beiske a G, Glad SB, Myhr K-M, Aarseth JH, Svensson E, et al. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis: associations with health-related quality of life and physical performance. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2011 Jan;18(1):114–20.
- Smestad C, Sandvik L, Celius EG. Excess mortality and cause of death in a cohort of Norwegian multiple sclerosis patients. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2009;15(11):1263–70.
- Smestad C, Sandvik L, Holmoy T, Harbo HF, Celius EG. Marked differences in prevalence of multiple sclerosis between ethnic groups in Oslo, Norway. Journal of neurology. 2008 Jan;255(1):49–55.
- Smestad C, Sandvik L, Landrø NI, Celius EG. Cognitive impairment after three decades of multiple sclerosis. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2010 Mar;17(3):499–505.
- Smith Aron. Symbol digit modalities test: Manual. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services; 1982.
- Sobocki P, Pugliatti M, Lauer K, Kobelt G. Estimation of the cost of MS in Europe: extrapolations from a multinational cost study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2007;13(8):1054–64.

- Sormani MP, Bruzzi P, Rudick R a, Cutter G. MRI lesions as a surrogate for relapses in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. The Lancet Neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2013 Jul;12(7):669–76.
- Staffen W, Mair a, Zauner H, Unterrainer J, Niederhofer H, Kutzelnigg a, et al. Cognitive function and fMRI in patients with multiple sclerosis: evidence for compensatory cortical activation during an attention task. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2002 Jun;125(Pt 6):1275–82.
- Stangel M, Penner IK, Kallmann B a., Lukas C, Kieseier BC. Towards the implementation of 'no evidence of disease activity' in multiple sclerosis treatment: the multiple sclerosis decision model. Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders. 2014;8(1):3–13.
- Stankiewicz JM, Glanz BI, Healy BC, Arora A, Neema M, Benedict RHB, et al. Brain MRI lesion load at 1.5T and 3T versus clinical status in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neuroimaging : official journal of the American Society of Neuroimaging. 2011 Apr;21(2):e50–6.
- De Stefano N, Airas L, Grigoriadis N, Mattle HP, O'Riordan J, Oreja-Guevara C, et al. Clinical relevance of brain volume measures in multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs. 2014. p. 147–56.
- De Stefano N, Matthews PM, Filippi M, Agosta F, De Luca M, Bartolozzi ML, et al. Evidence of early cortical atrophy in MS: relevance to white matter changes and disability. Neurology. 2003 Apr 8;60(7):1157–62.
- Stewart W a, Hall LD, Berry K, Paty DW. Correlation between NMR scan and brain slice data in multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 1984;2(8399):412.
- Sumowski JF, Chiaravalloti N, Wylie G, Deluca J. Cognitive reserve moderates the negative effect of brain atrophy on cognitive efficiency in multiple sclerosis. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS. 2009 Jul;15(4):606–12.
- Sumowski JF, Rocca M a, Leavitt VM, Dackovic J, Mesaros S, Drulovic J, et al. Brain reserve and cognitive reserve protect against cognitive decline over 4.5 years in MS. Neurology. 2014 May 20;82(20):1776–83.
- Sumowski JF, Rocca MA, Leavitt VM, Riccitelli G, Comi G, Deluca J, et al. Brain reserve and cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis: What you've got and how you use it. Neurology. 2013 May 10;

- Sumowski JF, Wylie GR, Gonnella a, Chiaravalloti N, Deluca J. Premorbid cognitive leisure independently contributes to cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010 Oct 19;75(16):1428–31.
- Swank RL, Lerstad O, Strøm A, Backer J. Multiple sclerosis in rural Norway Its Geographic and Occupational Incidence in relation to Nutrition. New England journal of medicine. 1952;246(19).
- Tallantyre EC, Bø L, Al-Rawashdeh O, Owens T, Polman CH, Lowe JS, et al. Clinico-pathological evidence that axonal loss underlies disability in progressive multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010;16(4):406–11.
- Tedeholm H, Lycke J, Skoog B, Lisovskaja V, Hillert J, Dahle C, et al. Time to secondary progression in patients with multiple sclerosis who were treated with first generation immunomodulating drugs. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2013 May;19(6):765–74.
- Tedeschi G, Dinacci D, Lavorgna L, Prinster A, Savettieri G, Quattrone A, et al. Correlation between fatigue and brain atrophy and lesion load in multiple sclerosis patients independent of disability. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2007 Dec 15;263(1-2):15–9.
- The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Interferon beta-1b is effective in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. I. Clinical results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Neurology. 1993;43(4):655–61.
- Thomas RH, Wakefield R a. Oral disease-modifying therapies for relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. American journal of health-system pharmacy :
 AJHP : official journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists.
 2015 Jan 1;72(1):25–38.
- Tombaugh TN. A comprehensive review of the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT). Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology. 2006;21(1):53–76.
- Toosy A, Ciccarelli O, Thompson A. Symptomatic treatment and management of multiple sclerosis. 1st ed. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Elsevier B.V.; 2014a.
- Toosy AT, Mason DF, Miller DH. Optic neuritis. Lancet neurology. Elsevier Ltd; 2014b Jan;13(1):83–99.

- Trapp BD, Peterson J, Ransohoff RM, Rudick R, Mörk S, Bö L. Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 1998 Jan 29;338(5):278–85.
- Trapp BD, Stys PK. Virtual hypoxia and chronic necrosis of demyelinated axons in multiple sclerosis. The Lancet Neurology. 2009. p. 280–91.
- Tremlett H, Zhu F, Petkau J, Oger J, Zhao Y. Natural, innate improvements in multiple sclerosis disability. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2012 Oct;18(10):1412–21.
- Urbanek C, Weinges-Evers N, Bellmann-Strobl J, Bock M, Dörr J, Hahn E, et al. Attention Network Test reveals alerting network dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2010;16(1):93–9.
- Vrenken H, Jenkinson M, Horsfield M a, Battaglini M, van Schijndel R a, Rostrup E, et al. Recommendations to improve imaging and analysis of brain lesion load and atrophy in longitudinal studies of multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology. 2012 Dec 21;
- Vuorinen M, Damangir S, Niskanen E, Miralbell J, Rusanen M, Spulber G, et al. Coronary Heart Disease and Cortical Thickness, Gray Matter and White Matter Lesion Volumes on MRI. PLoS ONE. 2014a;9(10):e109250.
- Vuorinen M, Spulber G, Damangir S, Niskanen E, Ngandu T, Soininen H, et al. Midlife CAIDE Dementia Risk Score and Dementia-Related Brain Changes up to 30 Years Later on Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD. 2014b;44:93–101.
- Wade DT, Young C a, Chaudhuri KR, Davidson DLW. A randomised placebo controlled exploratory study of vitamin B-12, lofepramine, and Lphenylalanine (the 'Cari Loder regime') in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2002;73(3):246–9.
- Walhovd KB, Storsve AB, Westlye LT, Drevon CA, Fjell AM. Blood markers of fatty acids and vitamin D, cardiovascular measures, body mass index, and physical activity relate to longitudinal cortical thinning in normal aging. Neurobiology of aging. Elsevier; 2013.

- Wechsler D. Wechsler abbreviated scale of intelligence. San Antonio (TX): The Psychological Corporation; 1999.
- Wegner C, Esiri MM, Chance S a, Palace J, Matthews PM. Neocortical neuronal, synaptic, and glial loss in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2008;
- Weinshenker BG, Bass B, Rice GP, Noseworthy J, Carriere W, Baskerville J, et al. The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study. 2.
 Predictive value of the early clinical course. Brain : a journal of neurology. 1989;112 (Pt 6:1419–28.
- Weinstock-Guttman B, Ramanathan M, Hashmi K, Abdelrahman N, Hojnacki D, Dwyer MG, et al. Increased tissue damage and lesion volumes in African Americans with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;74(7):538–44.
- Wesnes K, Riise T, Casetta I, Drulovic J, Granieri E, Holmøy T, et al. Body size and the risk of multiple sclerosis in Norway and Italy: The EnvIMS study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014 Sep 2;1–8.

Westbrook C, Kaut Roth C, Talbot J. MRI in practice. 4th editio. Wiley; 2011.

- Westerlind H, Ramanujam R, Uvehag D, Kuja-Halkola R, Boman M, Bottai M, et al. Modest familial risks for multiple sclerosis: a registry-based study of the population of Sweden. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2014 Mar;137(Pt 3):770–8.
- White OB, Fielding J. Cognition and eye movements: assessment of cerebral dysfunction. Journal of neuro-ophthalmology : the official journal of the North American Neuro-Ophthalmology Society. 2012 Sep;32(3):266–73.
- Wood AM, Froh JJ, Geraghty AWA. Gratitude and well-being: A review and theoretical integration. Clinical Psychology Review. 2010. p. 890–905.
- Wood AM, Joseph S, Maltby J. Gratitude uniquely predicts satisfaction with life: Incremental validity above the domains and facets of the five factor model. Personality and Individual Differences. 2008;45(1):49–54.
- Yaldizli O, Penner I-K, Frontzek K, Naegelin Y, Amann M, Papadopoulou A, et al. The relationship between total and regional corpus callosum atrophy, cognitive impairment and fatigue in multiple sclerosis patients. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2014 Mar;20(3):356–64.

Young I, Hall A, Pallis C, Bydder G. Nuclear magnetic resonance imaging of the brain in multiple sclerosis. The Lancet. 1981;(November).

10. Errata

Page 9, line 18(the heading of Paper III): ..." symbol digit Modalities Test"... corrected to ..."*Symbol Digit* Modalities Test"...

Page 22, figure legend: "Figure 9. Definitions of disease course in MS" corrected to "*Figure 10*. Definitions of disease course in MS" because of duplication in the manuscript. All the following figures are re-numbered accordingly.

Page 38, line 2: ..." the modulation of cytocike production"... corrected to ..." the modulation of *cytokine* production"...

Page 49, line 28: ..." diagnosis in the patients diagnosed according to 2005"... corrected to ..." diagnosis in the patients diagnosed according to *the 2005 McDonald Critera*"...

Page 54, line 14: ..." may case time constraints and require clinical training"... corrected to ..." may *cause* time constraints and require clinical training

Page 78, line 22: ..." experimental automimmune encephalitis (EAE)"... corrected to ... "experimental *autoimmune* encephalitis (EAE)"...

Page 82, figure 21 (new 22): y-axis legend "Structural and functional damage" corrected to "Structural damage and functional network efficiency"

Paper IV, page 28, line 649, figure caption: "SI Fig 2. Fig 5." corrected to "SI Fig 2."